
SHARE PURCHASE AGREEMENT 

 

THIS AGREEMENT (the “Agreement”) is dated as of July 15, 2019 (the “Effective Date”). 

 

AMONG  

 

MCBOOKIE LIMITED, a corporation formed under the laws of Scotland 

 

(the “Corporation”) 

 

AND 

 

THOSE SHAREHOLDERS OF THE CORPORATION AS SET FORTH IN SCHEDULE B HERETO 

(collectively, the “Shareholders”) 

AND 

 

FANSUNITE ENTERTAINMENT INC., a corporation formed under the laws of British Columbia 

 

(“Purchaser” and, together with the Corporation and the Shareholders, the “Parties”). 

 

WHEREAS: 

 

A. Shareholders together are the registered and beneficial owners of 100% of the right, title and interest in 

and to the issued and outstanding shares in the Corporation (the “Shares”); and 

 

B. Shareholders wish to sell to Purchaser, and Purchaser wishes to purchase from the Corporation, the 

Shares, subject to the terms and conditions set forth herein;  

 

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and agreements hereinafter set forth and for other 

good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties 

hereto agree as follows: 

 

ARTICLE I  
Definitions 

 

1.01 Definitions. 

(a) SCHEDULE A - DEFINITIONS contains a list of definitions that apply to this Agreement.  

 

1.02 Knowledge of Shareholders. Where any representation, warranty or other statement in this Agreement is 

expressed to be made by a Shareholder to his, her or its knowledge or is otherwise expressed to be 

limited in scope to facts or matters known to a Shareholder or of which a Shareholder is aware, it shall 

mean such knowledge which would have or should have come to the attention of, the officers or 

employees of the Corporation who have overall responsibility for or knowledge of the matters relevant 

to such statement or such knowledge as is actually known to: 
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(a)  in the case of a Active Shareholder, such Active Shareholder after reasonable enquiry; or  

(b) in the case of a Shareholder other than an Active Shareholder (a “Non-Active Shareholder”) , 

such Non-Active Shareholder. 

 

1.03 Determination of Liability. For the purposes of this Agreement, each Non-Active Shareholder shall be 

separately liable for any incorrectness in or breach or non-fulfillment of any representation, warranty 

or covenant given by a Non-Active Shareholder and herein expressed, and each such representation, 

warranty or covenant is to be separately given by him or her and no other Non-Active Shareholder 

shall have any liability of such representation, warranty or covenant. Each Active Shareholder shall be 

jointly and severally liable with the other Active Shareholder for any incorrectness in or breach or 

non-fulfillment of any representation, warranty or covenant given by an Active Shareholder and herein 

expressed, and no other Non-Active Shareholder shall have any liability of such representation, 

warranty or covenant. 

 

ARTICLE II  
Purchase and Sale 

 

2.01 Purchase and Sale.  At the Closing, Shareholders shall sell to Purchaser, and Purchaser shall purchase from 

Shareholders, the Shares, free and clear of all Encumbrances, for the consideration specified in Section 

2.02(the “Purchase Price”).  

 

2.02 Purchase Price. The Purchase Price shall be composed of the following and allocated among the 

Shareholders as set out in Schedule B: 

(a) cash consideration (the “Cash Portion”) equal to the sum of (i) six hundred thousand Pounds 

Sterling (£600,000) and (ii) the amount of unrestricted cash and cash equivalents held by the 

Corporation as of the close of business on the day immediately preceding the Closing Date, 

net of all outstanding checks, drafts, and the outstanding tax bill referenced in section 3.29 

(c) (the “Closing Cash”), less the amount of the Advance; and 

(b)Subject to Section2.02(c) and 2.03, four million eighty thousand (4,080,000) common shares of 

Purchaser (each, a “Purchaser Share”), at a deemed issue price of CAD $0.25 per Purchaser 

Share, to be issued on Closing. All Purchaser Shares issued hereunder (the “Restricted 

Purchaser Shares”) will be subject to a share restriction agreement (the “Share Restriction 

Agreement”) to be entered into concurrently with this Agreement, attached hereto as 

Schedule D, which shall restrict the relevant holder’s ability to sell, transfer or otherwise 

dispose of the Purchaser Shares for a nine (9) month period following the Closing Date. Each 

Active Shareholder (defined herein) acknowledges and agrees that any Purchaser Shares 

released pursuant to Subsection 2.03(b) shall remain subject to the Share Restriction 

Agreement. 

(c) The Shareholders acknowledge that before or concurrently with the Amalgamation (as that term 

is defined in section 2.11 below) the Purchaser is expected to undergo a share consolidation 

pursuant to which each holder of common shares of the Purchaser will exchange two of 

those shares for a single common share in the Purchaser (the “Consolidation”). As a result 

of such Consilidation, the total number of outstanding common shares in the Purchaser will 

be reduced from 69,831,000 to 34,915,500. The Shareholders agree that upon the 

occurrence of such Consolidation, their entitlement to the issuance of Purchaser Shares 
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pursuant to section 2.02(b) of this Agreement will be reduced from 4,080,000 Purchaser 

Shares to 2,040,000 Purchaser Shares (CAD $0.50 per Purchaser Share). 

 

2.03 Reverse Vesting. Each of Damian Walker and Paul Petrie (together, the “Active Shareholders”) agrees 

that, for a period of thirty-six (36) months following the Closing, all Purchaser Shares issued hereunder 

to such Active Shareholder will be subject to the following: 

(a)  a repurchase option, whereby, upon the occurrence of a Triggering Event (defined herein), 

Purchaser will have the right, on ten (10) business days written notice to the Active 

Shareholder, to repurchase for cancellation all or any portion of the Purchaser Shares issued 

to such Active Shareholder hereunder that have not been released pursuant to Subsection 

2.03(b) (the “Repurchased Shares”) at a price of CAD $0.00001 per Purchaser Share; 

(b) the Purchaser Shares issued to such Active Shareholder will be released from the Purchaser’s 

repurchase option set forth under Subsection 2.03(a) in accordance with the following 

schedule: 

(i)  ten (10%) percent of such Restricted Purchaser Shares, on the Closing Date; 

(ii)  Fifteen (15%) percent of such Restricted Purchaser Shares, on the six (6) month anniversary 

of the Closing Date; 

(iii)  Fifteen (15%) percent of such Restricted Purchaser Shares, on the twelve (12) month 

anniversary of the Closing Date; 

(iv)  Fifteen (15%) percent of such Restricted Purchaser Shares, on the eighteen (18) month 

anniversary of the Closing Date; 

(v)  Fifteen (15%) percent of such Restricted Purchaser Shares, on the twenty four (24) month 

anniversary of the Closing Date; 

(vi)  Fifteen (15%) percent of such Restricted Purchaser Shares, on the thirty (30) month 

anniversary of the Closing Date; and 

(vii) Fifteen (15%) percent of such Restricted Purchaser Shares, on the thirty six (36) month 

anniversary of the Closing Date; 

(c)  in connection with any repurchase pursuant to 2.03(a), the Active Shareholder will acknowledge 

and confirm the sale of the Repurchased Shares by executing such assignment and transfer 

agreement as the Purchaser may reasonably request. If the Active Shareholder fails to 

execute that assignment and transfer agreement within ten (10) business days after delivery 

thereof to the Active Shareholder, then the Secretary of the Purchaser will be entitled to 

execute that assignment and transfer agreement as attorney and agent for the Active 

Shareholder. In connection with the foregoing, the Active Shareholder hereby irrevocably 

constitutes and appoints the Secretary of the Purchaser as the Active Shareholder’s true and 

lawful attorney with full power of substitution in the Active Shareholder’s name and on 

behalf in accordance with the Power of Attorney Act (British Columbia), with no restriction 

or limitation in that regard, to execute and deliver all such agreements and documents as 

may be necessary to transfer the Repurchased Shares pursuant to Section 2.03(a). 

(d)Each Active Shareholder hereby acknowledges that nine tenths (9/10) of the Purchaser Shares 

issuable hereunder shall be deposited in escrow or held in trust with an escrow agent, 

mutually agreed upon by the parties, until released pursuant to the schedule set forth in 

Subsection 2.03(b). Each Active Shareholder agrees to execute an instrument of share 

transfer in blank in such form as the Purchaser may reasonably request and hereby 
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irrevocably authorizes the Secretary of the Purchaser to complete such instrument of 

transfer at such time and in such manner as necessary to effect the Purchaser’s option to 

repurchase pursuant to Section 2.03(a) in accordance with the terms and conditions of this 

Agreement. 

(e) Subject to the terms hereof, each Active Shareholder will have all the rights of a shareholder with 

respect to all Purchaser Shares issued hereunder, subject to the Purchaser’s option to 

repurchase pursuant to Section 2.03(a), while they are held in escrow or in trust, including 

without limitation, the right to vote such Purchaser Shares and receive any dividends 

declared thereon if the Purchaser’s articles confer such rights on the holders of the 

Purchaser Shares, until such time that such Purchaser Shares have not been repurchased by 

the Purchased pursuant to Section 2.03(a). 

(f) For the purposes of this Section 2.03, “Triggering Event” shall mean termination of the Active 

Shareholder’s employment with the Corporation or the Purchaser for any reason “with 

cause” (as defined under the relevant Active Shareholder’s Employment Agreement) or by 

voluntary resignation, and such Triggering Event does not include where: (i) an Active 

Shareholder’s termination is by way of termination for any reason “without cause”, (ii) an 

Active Shareholder’s termination is by way of voluntary resignation at the request of the 

Corporation’s or the Purchaser’s board of directors for succession planning, strategic 

planning, or any other reason provided by such board; or (iii) an Active Shareholder ceases 

to be an employee of the Corporation or the Purchaser but is immediately retained as a 

contractor of the Corporation or another Affiliate of the Purchaser. 

 

2.04 Annual Royalties. The Purchaser agrees to pay the Active Shareholders the following cash payments 

(each, an “Annual Royalty”): 

(a) Year 1: Purchaser will pay to the Active Shareholders ten percent (10%) of the Purchaser’s EBITDA 

during that year derived from the Corporation’s line of business, including through the 

McBookie.com website and any related top-level domains or subdomains (the 

“Corporation-Derived EBITDA”);  

(b)Year 2: Purchaser will pay to the Active Shareholders ten percent (10%) of the 

Corporation-Derived EBITDA; and 

(c) Year 3: Purchaser will pay to the Active Shareholders ten percent (10%) of the 

Corporation-Derived EBITDA. 

2.05  Conduct of Business During Royalties Period. The Purchaser undertakes to the Active Shareholders that 

during the three (3) year royalty period, as identified in Section 2.04 (the “Royalties Period”), except 

with the prior written consent of the Active Shareholders, such consent not to be unreasonably 

withheld: 

 

(a)  it shall use commercially reasonable efforts not to cause or permit a material change to the 

scope or nature of the Corporation’s business;  

(b) it shall not, directly or indirectly, take any action, or cause or permit anything to be done with 

the purpose of avoiding or reducing the amount of any Annual Royalties; 

(c) it shall not cause or permit a change in the accounting reference date of the Corporation; 

(d)it shall use commercially reasonable efforts not to cause or permit a proposal or passing of a 

resolution to wind up the Corporation; 
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(e) it shall not cause or permit any management charges, fees or other intra-group charges or any 

interest payments on intra-group borrowings to be levied on the Corporation by the 

Purchaser or its Affiliates, except on terms no less favorable to the Corporation than the 

Corporation could obtain from third parties; 

(f) all intra-group transactions between the Corporation and the Purchaser or its Affiliates shall be 

undertaken upon reasonable commercial terms; and 

(g) it shall use commercially reasonable efforts to ensure that the Corporation has sufficient working 

capital to continue to carry on its business in its current form and at its current level of 

turnover. 

 

2.06  Procedures Applicable to Determination of Annual Royalty Payments.  

(a)  On or before the date which is ninety (90) calendar days after the end of each financial year 

(each such date, an "Annual Royalties Calculation Delivery Date"), Purchaser shall prepare 

and deliver to the Active Shareholders (a) unconsolidated financial statements for the 

Corporation’s business activities, and (b) a written statement (in each case, an "Royalties 

Calculation Statement") setting forth in reasonable detail the Purchaser's determination of 

Corporation-Derived EBITDA for the applicable financial year and calculation of the 

resulting Annual Royalties Payment (in each case, an "Annual Royalties Calculation”). If, at 

the conclusion of the Purchaser’s annual audit, the Annual Royalties Calculation provided by 

the Purchaser on the Annual Royalties Calculation Delivery Date is found to have materially 

understated the amount of Corporation-Derived EBITDA for the applicable financial year, 

the Purchaser will increase the Annual Royalties Payment accordingly and will remit to the 

Shareholders any difference within the later of (i) thirty (30) business days from the 

conclusion of the audit and (ii) the date on which the Annual Royalties Payment is paid in 

accordance with Section 2.07. If the Annual Royalties Calculation provided by the Purchaser 

on the Annual Royalties Calculation Delivery Date is found to have materially overstated the 

amount of Corporation-Derived EBITDA for the applicable financial year, the Purchaser will 

be entitled to reduce the Annual Royalties Payment for the following year accordingly or, in 

the case of an Annual Royalties Payment occurring in the final year of the Annual Royalties 

Payments, be remitted back to the Purchaser by the Active Shareholders within forty-five 

(45) Business Days of notification of such difference by the Purchaser to the Active 

Shareholders; 

 

(b)  The Active Shareholders shall have thirty (30) calendar days after receipt of the Royalties 

Calculation Statement for the respective financial year (in each case, the "Review Period") 

to review the Royalties Calculation Statement and the Annual Royalties Calculation set forth 

therein. During the Review Period, the Active Shareholders and their representatives shall 

have the right to inspect the Purchaser’s and the Corporation's books and records during 

normal business hours at the Purchaser's offices, or by such electronic means as mutually 

agreed upon by the parties, upon reasonable prior notice and solely for purposes reasonably 

related to the determinations of Corporation-Derived EBITDA and the resulting Annual 

Royaltes Payment. Before the expiration of the Review Period, any one of the Active 

Shareholders may object to the Annual Royalties Calculation set forth in the Royalties 

Calculation Statement for the applicable financial year by delivering a written notice of 

objection (an "Royalties Calculation Objection Notice") to Purchaser. Any  Royalties 
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Calculation Objection Notice shall specify the items in the applicable Annual Royalties 

Calculation disputed by the Active Shareholder and shall describe in reasonable detail the 

basis for such objection and the amount in dispute. If the Active Shareholder fails to deliver 

a Royalties Calculation Objection Notice to Purchaser before the expiration of the Review 

Period, then the Annual Royalties Calculation set forth in the Royalties Calculation 

Statement shall be final and binding on the parties hereto. If the Active Shareholder timely 

delivers an Royalties Calculation Objection Notice, Purchaser and the Active Shareholders 

shall negotiate in good faith to resolve the disputed items and agree upon the resulting 

amount of the Corporation-Derived EBITDA and the Annual Royalties Payment for the 

applicable financial year. If Purchaser and the Active Sharheolders have not reached 

an agreement within thirty (30) calendar days after such a Royalties Calculation Objection 

Notice has been given, all unresolved disputed items shall be promptly referred to an 

impartial nationally recognized firm of independent chartered professional accountants, 

other than Active Shareholders' accountant or Purchaser's accountant, appointed by 

mutual agreement of Purchaser and the Active Shareholder (the "Independent 

Accountant"). 
 
The Independent Accountant shall be directed to render a written report on the unresolved 

disputed items with respect to the applicable Annual Royalties Calculation as promptly as 

practicable but in no event greater than thirty (30) calendar days after such submission to 

the Independent Accountant, and to resolve only those unresolved disputed items set forth 

in the Royalties Calculation Objection Notice. If unresolved disputed items are submitted to 

the Independent Accountant, Purchaser and the Active Shareholders shall each furnish to 

the Independent Accountant such work papers, schedules and other documents and 

information relating to the unresolved disputed items as the Independent Accountant may 

reasonably request. The Independent Accountant shall resolve the disputed items as an 

expert and not as an arbitrator based solely on the applicable definitions and other terms in 

this Agreement and the presentations by Purchaser and the Active Shareholders, and not by 

independent review. The resolution of the dispute and the calculation of 

Corporation-Derived EBITDA that is the subject of the applicable Royalties Calculation 

Objection Notice by the Independent Accountant shall be final and binding on the parties 

hereto (“Settlement”). The fees and expenses of the Independent Accountant shall be borne 

by the Active Shareholders and Purchaser in proportion to the amounts by which their 

respective calculations of Corporation-Derived EBITDA differ from Corporation-Derived 

EBITDA as finally determined by the Independent Accountant. 

2.07  Each of the Annual Royalties contemplated in Section 2.04 will be paid by Purchaser within thirty (30) 

Business Days of the Annual Royalties Calculation Delivery Date or the date of Settlement, whichever is 

later. The Purchaser’s obligations under Section 2.04 shall terminate on completion of a Sale (as 

defined herein). 

 

2.08  The Purchaser shall pay the Annual Royalties and perform its obligations under Sections 2.04 and 2.07 

under this Agreement, without set-off, deduction, recoupment or withholding of any kind for amounts 

owed or payable by an Active Shareholder whether under this Agreement, applicable Law or otherwise 

and whether relating to the Active Shareholder’s breach, bankruptcy or otherwise. The Purchaser's 

obligation to pay each of the Annual Royalties Payments to the Active Shareholders in accordance with 
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Section 2.04 is an independent obligation of Purchaser and is not otherwise conditional or contingent 

upon the satisfaction of any conditions precedent to any preceding or subsequent Annaul Royalties 

Payment. 

 

2.09  For a three (3) year period following Closing, in the event Purchaser sells, transfers, liquidates or 

otherwise disposes of the Corporation, as a standalone company, or substantially all of the assets of 

the Corporation (as presently constituted) to any third party (a “Sale”), the Purchaser shall pay to the 

Active Shareholders 10% of (i) the purchase price offerred by the third party for such transaction, less 

(ii) all reasonably and properly incurred fees, costs and expenses incurred in respect of the Sale by the 

Purchaser and its Affiliates. For the purposes of a Sale, a third party means an independent third party 

that is unrelated to the Purchaser or its Affiliates.  

 

2.10  For a three (3) year period following Closing, except in connection with a corporate restructuring, 

amalgamation, transfer, sale, or related action, in the event Purchaser elects to shut down all 

operations of the Corporation or its business (as or substantially as presently carried on), the Active 

Shareholders shall be entitled to purchase the Corporation or its business from Purchaser or a 

shareholder of the Purchaser for a price of CAD $0.00001 per Share. Nothing herein done pursuant 

hereto shall obligate the Active Shareholders purchase the Corporation or its business from Purchaser 

pursuant to this 2.10. 

 

2.11 Amalgamation Ageement. The paries hereby acknowledge that effective June 24, 2019 the Purchaser 

has entered into an amalgamation agreement (the “Amalgamation Agreement”) with HIC Horizon 

Investments Captial Corp Inc. (“Pubco”) and 1209080 BC Ltd. (“Subco”) pursuant to which: 

 (a)  the Purchaser will be amalgamated with Subco (the “Amalgamation”) to form a new amalgamated 

company (“Amalco”) after the Effective Date but before the Closing Date;  

(b)  each outstanding share and option to purchase shares in the Purchaser will be exchanged for a 

share or option to purchase shares in Pubco. As a result of such transaction the Shareholders’ 

entitlement to Purchaser Shares will be converted to an entiltlement to shares in Pubco; 

(c)  Amalco will become a wholly-owned Subsidiary of Pubco; 

(d)  Pubco will carry on through Amalco the business currently carried on by the Purchaser; and 

(e) Pubco will: 

(i)   change its’ name to “FansUnite Entertainment Inc.” or such other name as may be mutually 

agreed upon between the parties to the Amalgamation Agreement; 

(ii) file a final non-offering prospectus with the BC Securities Commisison and any other applicable 

Canadian Securities Regulators (the “Non-Offering Prospectus”); and 

(iii) Pubco will file a listing application to list its Common shares on the CSE. 

  (collectively (e)(i) through (iii) are referenced herein as the “Listing”) 

2.12 Issuance of Amalco Shares. The Shareholders and the Purchaser agree that upon occurrence of the 

Listing and Pubco becoming a publicly traded company, subject to the previous occurrence of the 



 

8 

 

Amaglamation, the Shareholders shall be entitled to obtain from the Purchaser a number of shares in 

Amalco equal to the number of Purchaser’s Shares to be issued to them under section 2.02(b) of this 

Agreement, subject to section 2.02(c) of this Agreement (the “Amalco Shares”). The Shareholders 

further agree that the Amalco Shares shall be subject in all respects to the same terms and restrictions 

as the Purchasers’ Shares pursuant to this Agreement, including the restrictions set out in section 

2.02(b) and 2.03 of this Agreement. The Shareholders shall also abide by any transfer restrictions or 

other restrictions imposed on owners of the Amalco Shares as a result of the Listing.  For greater 

certainty, without limiting the generality of the foregoing, (i) the Amalco Shares shall be subject to the 

same transfer restrictions applicable to the Purchaser Shares set out in section 2.02(b) in this 

Agreement, including a 9-month hold period, and the Shareholders shall enter in to a Share Restriction 

Agreement in respect to those Amalco Shares, and (ii) the Amalco Shares owned by the Active 

Shareholders shall be subject to a the same reverse vesting provisions applicable to the Purchaser 

Shares set out in section 2.03 of this Agreement. 

2.13  Cooperation With Listing and Amalgamation. The Shareholders shall take all necessary steps to  

ensure the Amalgamation and Listing take place, including providing any consents necessary for the 

occurrence of the same, as well as providing any information and materials reasonably requested by 

Purchaser in respect to the Listing. 

 

2.14      Transactions to be Effected at the Closing. 

(a) At the Closing, Shareholders shall deliver to Purchaser: 

(i) share certificates representing the Shares, free and clear of all Encumbrances, duly endorsed 

in blank or accompanied by forms of share transfers or other instruments of transfer 

duly executed in blank; and 

(ii) all other agreements, documents, instruments or certificates required to be delivered by 

Shareholders at or before the Closing under Section 7.02. 

(b) At Closing, Purchaser shall deliver to Shareholders: 

(i) all other agreements, documents, instruments or certificates required to be delivered by 

Purchaser at or before the Closing under Section 7.03; and 

(ii) a wire transfer, on a LVTS basis, of the Cash Portion and the Closing Cash to the Shareholders, 

pursuant to the proportions set out in Schedule B herein. 

 

2.15 Closing. Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, the completion of the purchase and 

sale of the Shares (the “Closing”) shall take place within fifteen (15) business days of the date Pubco 

becomes a public Company with shares listed on the CSE (the day on which the Closing takes place 

being the “Closing Date”). No action is to be considered completed until all actions necessary to be 

completed at the Closing have been completed. The Closing will take place by way of an exchange of 

documents and payments between the solicitors for the Purchaser and the solicitors for the 

Shareholders and the satisfaction of waiver of the conditions to Closing set forth in Article VI (other 

than conditions which, by their nature, are to be satisfied on the Closing Date). 

ARTICLE III  
Representations and Warranties of the Active Shareholders and the Corporation 

 

Except as set forth in the correspondingly numbered Section of the Disclosure Schedules that relates to such 

Section or in another Section of the Disclosure Schedules to the extent that it is reasonably apparent on the face 
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of such disclosure that such disclosure is applicable to such Section, each of the Active Shareholders and the 

Corporation jointly and severally represents and warrants to Purchaser that the statements contained in this 

Article III are true and correct as of the date of this Agreement and the Closing.  

 

3.01 Corporate Status of the Corporation.  The Corporation is a corporation incorporated and validly existing 

under the Laws of Scotland.  No steps or proceedings have been taken to authorize or require the 

discontinuance or dissolution or the bankruptcy, insolvency, liquidation or winding up of the 

Corporation. All corporate information and filing are current. The Corporation has the corporate power 

and capacity to own, operate or lease the properties and assets now owned, operated or leased by it 

and to carry on its business as it has been and is currently conducted. The Corporation does not have a 

Remote Gambling Licence, because the Corportion is a “white label” betting company. All corporate 

actions taken by the Corporation in connection with this Agreement will be duly authorized on or 

before the Closing. 

 

3.02 Business in Good Standing. The Corporation is in good standing under the laws of Scotland. It does not 

have a Remote Gambling Licence because the Corporation is a “white label” betting company. 

 

3.03 No U.S. Operations. The Corporation has never operated or conducted business in the United States, 

never actively or directly marketed or targeted the Business to the United States or its residents and, 

to the knowledge of the Active Shareholders, never accepted a bet from a United States resident.  

 

3.04 Capitalization 

(a) The Shares listed in Schedule B hereto represent all of the issued and outstanding capital of the 

Corporation. All of the Shares have been duly authorized, are validly issued, fully paid and 

non-assessable. Shareholders are the registered and beneficial owner of the Shares, free 

and clear of all Encumbrances. Upon consummation of the transactions contemplated by 

this Agreement, Purchaser shall own all of the Shares, free and clear of all Encumbrances. 

  

(b)All of the Shares were issued in compliance with applicable Laws in all material respects. None of 

the Shares were issued in violation of any agreement, arrangement or commitment to which 

a Shareholder or the Corporation is a party or is subject to or in violation of any pre-emptive 

or similar rights of any Person. 

  

(c) There are no outstanding or authorized options, warrants, convertible securities or other rights, 

agreements, arrangements or commitments of any character relating to any shares in the 

capital of the Corporation or obligating Shareholders or the Corporation to issue or sell any 

shares of, or any other interest in, the Corporation. The Corporation does not have any 

outstanding or authorized share appreciation, phantom share, profit participation or similar 

rights. There are no voting trusts or agreements, pooling agreements, unanimous 

shareholder agreements or other shareholder agreements, proxies or other agreements or 

understandings in effect with respect to the voting or transfer of any of the Shares. 

 

3.05 Subsidiaries.  The Corporation has no subsidiaries and no other equity interests in any other 

corporations or similar entities 
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3.06 No Conflicts; Consents.  The execution, delivery and performance by the Corporation of this Agreement, 

and the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, do not and will not:  

(a) conflict with or result in a breach or default of any provision of the Articles or other constating 

documents of the Corporation;  

(b)conflict with any provision of any Law or Governmental Order applicable to the Corporation, in 

any material respects;  

(c)  except as set forth in Section 3.06 of the Disclosure Schedules, trigger consent requirements or 

other provisions adverse to the Corporation in, or otherwise conflict with, any Contract or 

Permit in any way relating to the Corporation, its Business or the Assets, including without 

limitation the Software License, any remote gaming licenses or other authorizations from 

the UK Gaming Commission or other similar Governmental Authority; or  

(d)except as set forth in Section 3.06 of the Disclosure Schedules, result in the creation or imposition 

of any Encumbrance on any Assets of the Corporation. No consent, approval, Permit, 

Governmental Order, declaration or filing with, or notice to, any Governmental Authority is 

required by or with respect to the Corporation in connection with the execution and 

delivery of this Agreement and the consummation of the transactions or actions 

contemplated under this Agreement. 

 

3.07 Financial Statements 

(a) Complete copies of the Corporation’s Financial Statements and Interim Financial Statements have 

been delivered to Purchaser. The Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance 

with UK GAAP, in all material respects, subject, in the case of the Interim Financial 

Statements, to normal and recurring year-end adjustments. 

 

(b)The Financial Statements: (i) are based on the Books and Records of the Corporation; and (ii) 

fairly, completely and accurately present, in all material respects, the Assets, Liabilities and 

financial position of the Corporation as of the respective dates they were prepared and the 

results of the operations of the Corporation for the periods covered thereby. 

 

(c) The Corporation maintains a standard system of accounting established and administered in 

accordance with UK GAAP. 

  

3.08 Undisclosed Liabilities.  The Corporation has no liabilities, obligations or commitments of any nature 

whatsoever, asserted or unasserted, known or unknown, absolute or contingent, accrued or 

unaccrued, matured or unmatured or otherwise (collectively, the “Liabilities”), except: (a) those that 

are adequately reflected or reserved against in the Balance Sheet as of the Balance Sheet Date; and (b) 

those that have been incurred in the Ordinary Course consistent with past practice since the Balance 

Sheet Date and that are not, individually or in the aggregate, material in amount. 

  

3.09 Absence of Certain Changes, Events and Conditions.  Except as set forth in Section 3.09 of the Disclosure 

Schedules, since the Balance Sheet Date, and other than in the Ordinary Course consistent with past 

practice, there has not been, to the knowledge of the Active Shareholders, with respect to the 

Corporation, any: 

(a) event, occurrence or development that has had, or could reasonably be expected to have, 

individually or in the aggregate, a Material Adverse Effect; 
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(b)amendment of the Articles, unanimous shareholder agreement or other constating documents of 

the Corporation; 

 

(c) any change in capitalization of the Corporation whatsoever (including issuance or disposition of 

shares); 

 

(d)declaration or payment of any dividends or distributions on or in respect of any shares in the 

Corporation or redemption, retraction, purchase or acquisition of its shares; 

  

(e) material change in any accounting practice or cash management practices of the Corporation, 

except as required by UK GAAP or as disclosed in the notes to the Financial Statements; 

  

(f) entry into any Contract that would constitute a Material Contract, other than already disclosed to 

the Purchaser; 

  

(g) assumption of any indebtedness for borrowed money except unsecured current obligations and 

Liabilities; 

 

(h)transfer, assignment, sale or other disposition of any of the Assets shown or reflected in the 

Balance Sheet or cancellation of any debts or entitlements; 

  

(i) any capital investment in, or any loan to, any other Person; 

 

(j) acceleration, termination, material modification to or cancellation of any Material Contract to 

which the Corporation is a party or by which it is bound; 

 

(k)any material capital expenditures; 

 

(l) imposition of any Encumbrance upon any of the Shares or Assets, tangible or intangible; 

 

(m) grant or payment of any form of compensation or severance to its current or former employees, 

officers, directors, Independent Contractors; 

  

(n)hiring or promoting any individual except to fill a vacancy; 

  

(o)adoption, modification or termination of any: (i) agreement with any current or former 

employee, officer, director, or Independent Contractor; or (ii) Benefit Plan, in each case, 

whether written or oral; 

  

(p)any loan to (or forgiveness of any loan to), or entry into any other transaction with, any of its 

Related Parties; 
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(q)entry into a new line of business or abandonment or discontinuance of existing lines of business; 

  

(r) any action to the knowledge of the Corporation that would have the effect of increasing the Tax 

liability or reducing any Tax asset or attribute of the Corporation; or 

 

(s)any Contract to do any of the foregoing, or any action or omission that would result in any of the 

foregoing. 

  

3.10 Material Contracts 

(a) Section 3.10(a) of the Disclosure Schedules lists all Contracts entered into by the Corporation that 

are material to the operation of the Business, including without limitation: 

(i) all Contracts between or among the Corporation and Shareholders or any Affiliate of 

Shareholders (other than the Corporation); 

(ii) all Contracts with any Governmental Authority to which the Corporation is a party; 

(iii)  all Contracts that impose non-competition or non-solicitation covenants of any sort on 

the Corporation; 

(iv) all employment or consulting Contracts between the Corporation and its key personnel; and 

(v) all shareholder agreements or similar agreements with respect to the ownership or voting of 

any of the Shares or restriction of the power of the directors of the Corporation 

(such Contracts, together with all Contracts concerning real property listed or otherwise 

disclosed in Section 3.10(a) of the Disclosure Schedules, being “Material Contracts”). 

 

(b)Each Material Contract is valid and binding on the Corporation in accordance with its terms and is 

in full force and effect. Neither the Corporation nor, to the knowledge of the Active 

Shareholders, any other party to a Material Contract is, or is alleged to be, in breach of or 

default under, or has provided or received any notice of any intention to terminate, any 

Material Contract. Complete and correct copies of each Material Contract (including all 

related modifications, amendments, supplements and waivers) have been made available to 

Purchaser. 

 

3.11 Title to Assets; Real Property; Leases 

(a) The Corporation is the legal and beneficial owner with good and marketable title of the Assets 

reflected in the Financial Statements and the Assets are free from all Encumbrances, other 

than Permitted Encumbrances.  

   

(b)The Corporation does not and has not directly or indirectly owned any legal or beneficial interest 

in any real property. 

  

(c) The Corporation is not a party to any lease in respect of real property. 

  

3.12 Condition of Assets. Except as set forth in Section 3.12 of the Disclosure Schedules, equipment and other 

items of tangible personal property of the Corporation are structurally sound, are in good operating 

condition and repair, and are adequate for the uses to which they are being put, and none of such 

equipment and other items of tangible personal property is in need of maintenance or repairs except 
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for ordinary, routine maintenance and repairs that are not material in nature or cost.  

 

3.13 Intellectual Property 

(a) Schedule 3.13 of the Disclosure Schedule contains correct, current, and complete lists of all 

copyrights, and patents in, and Marks relating to the McBookie Platform or Documentation 

that have been issued or registered, or for which an application for issuance or registration 

or other filing has been made by, to or with any Governmental Authority or authorized 

private registrar in any jurisdiction (collectively, the “IP Registrations”), specifying as to 

each, as applicable: (i) the nature of the intellectual property right claimed or covered by 

such IP Registration; (ii) the IP Registration’s title and subject matter; (iii) the owner(s), 

author(s), or inventor(s), as applicable (if any); (iv) the jurisdiction by or in which it has been 

issued or registered or in which an application for such issuance or registration has been 

filed; (v) the patent, registration, application or publication serial number; and (vi) the date 

of issuance or registration, where applicable, or date of application. All required filings and 

fees related to the IP Registrations have been timely filed with and paid to all relevant 

Governmental Authorities and other authorized registrars, and all such IP Registrations have 

at all times been and remain in good standing.  

(b)To the knowledge of the Active Shareholders, the Corporation possesses adequate rights or 

licenses to use all Intellectual Property, that is used by the Corporation in its Business, 

pursuant to license or similar agreements having a minimum term of twenty-four (24) 

months from the date of this Agreement. 

(c) No Person is licensed to use any of the Intellectual Property owned by the Corporation, whether 

with or without payment of any royalty or other fees.   

(d)Except as disclosed in Schedule 3.14 of the Disclosure Schedules, the Intellectual Property owned 

by the Corporation, and to the knowledge of the Active Shareholders, Intellectual Property 

not owned by the Corporation but used in its Business, is valid, in full force and effect in all 

material respects, and, to the knowledge of the Active Shareholders, has not been used or 

enforced or failed to be used or enforced in a manner that would result in the 

abandonment, cancellation or unenforceability of such Intellectual Property or any 

application, registration or patent in respect thereof. 

(e)  To the knowledge of the Active Shareholders, no Person has infringed the rights of the 

Corporation in the Intellectual Property. No person has challenged the Corporation’s rights 

to the ownership and use of the Intellectual Property. 

(f) Except as disclosed in in Schedule 3.14 of the Disclosure Schedules, the Corporation has not 

received any notice, threat or claim of adverse ownership, invalidity or other opposition to 

or conflict with any Intellectual Property that is owned by the Corporation or used in its 

Business nor of any pending or threatened suit, proceeding, claim, demand, action or 

investigation of any nature or kind against the Corporation relating to such Intellectual 

Property and the Corporation is not aware of any such potential suit, proceeding, claim, 

demand, action or investigation. 

(g) To the knowledge of the Active Shareholders, neither the Business nor any activity in which the 

Corporation is engaged nor any product or service which the Corporation sells or provides, 

or the use of any of the Intellectual Property, breaches, violates, infringes or interferes with 

any intellectual property rights of any third party or requires payment for the use of any 
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patent, trade-name, trade secret, trade-mark, copyright or other intellectual property right 

or technology of another. 

(h)All Marks that are owned by the Corporation and that have been registered with an applicable 

Intellectual Property registration Governmental Authority are currently in compliance with 

all formal legal requirements (including the timely post-registration filing of affidavits of use 

and incontestability and renewal applications) in all material respects, are valid and 

enforceable , and are not subject to any maintenance fees or taxes or actions falling due 

within ninety days after the Closing Date. No Mark owned by the Corporation has been or is 

now involved in any opposition, invalidation, or cancellation and no such action is 

threatened with respect to any of such Marks. To the knowledge of the Active Shareholders, 

there is no potentially interfering trademark or trademark application of any third party, no 

Mark owned by the Corporation is infringed or has been challenged or threatened in any 

way and there exist no trademarks that are confusingly similar to such Marks owned by the 

Corporation. None of the Marks used by the Corporation infringes or is alleged to infringe 

any trade name, trademark, or service mark of any third party. 

(i) All employees, contractors, partners, suppliers, and customers of the Corporation and other 

Persons that the Corporation has allowed to have access to the Intellectual Property have 

agreed to maintain the confidentiality of such Intellectual Property. 

(j) All employees, contractors and other representatives of the Corporation who have contributed to 

or participated in the conception and/or development of all or any part of the Intellectual 

Property that is owned by the Corporation either (i) have been party to a written 

employment or contractor arrangement or agreement with the Corporation, in accordance 

with applicable Law, that has accorded the Corporation full, effective, exclusive, and original 

ownership of all tangible and intangible property thereby arising and under which each such 

employee, contractor or other representative has waived any moral rights or other similar 

rights in such property, or (ii) have executed appropriate written instruments of assignment 

in favour of the Corporation as assignee that have conveyed full, effective and exclusive 

ownership of all tangible and intangible property thereby arising and under which they have 

waived any moral rights or other similar rights in such property. 

(k)The Corporation has taken all reasonable steps to preserve all Confidential Information, including 

requiring all Persons having access thereto to execute written non-disclosure agreements. 

Except for Purchaser and certain employees and contractors of the Corporation who are 

bound by enforceable obligations prohibiting their use or disclosure of the Confidential 

Information other than for the benefit of the Corporation, to the knowledge of the Active 

Shareholders, no Confidential Information has been disclosed to any Person and there has 

been no security breach relating to, no violation of any security policy regarding, and no 

unauthorized access to, any of the Confidential Information. Without limiting the foregoing, 

the Corporation has neither itself, nor caused, authorized, or permitted any other Person to 

have, licensed, distributed, or disclosed, and knows of no licensing, distribution, or 

disclosure of, any Source Code to any third party, and the Corporation has taken 

commercially reasonable physical and electronic security measures to prevent disclosure of 

any Source Code. No (i) consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby, (ii) event 

that has occurred, or (iii) circumstance or condition that exists, will (with or without notice 

or lapse of time, or both), or would reasonably be expected to, result in the disclosure or 

release of any Source Code to any third party. 
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3.14 Software License 

(a) Except as disclosed in Schedule 3.14 of the Disclosure Schedules, no breach under the License of 

Intellectual Property Rights, dated, August 6, 2018, among the Corporation, Two-Up Digital 

Ltd. and Star Racing Limited (the “Software License”) has occurred and all of its terms, 

conditions, covenants, agreements and provisions, remain in full force and effect.  

(b)No consent from any party to the Software License shall be required in connection with the 

transactions contemplated hereunder and the Software License shall continue in full force 

and effect following the Closing. 

(c) To the knowledge of the Active Shareholders, the software platform licensed pursuant to the 

Software License (the “Underlying Software”) is fully operable and functions in all respects 

necessary for use in the Business and functioning of the McBookie Platform. 

 

3.15 Content and Performance Warranty 

(a) The Documentation is complete and accurate, in all material respects, such that the McBookie 

Platform does not have any undocumented feature. 

(b)To the knowledge of the Active Shareholders, the Underlying Software and the McBookie 

Platform contain no harmful or malicious code, including any: (i) virus, Trojan horse, worm, 

backdoor, or other software or hardware devices the effect of which is to permit 

unauthorized access to, or to disable, erase, or otherwise harm, any computer, systems, or 

software; or (ii) time bomb, drop dead device, or other software or hardware device 

designed to disable a computer program automatically with the passage of time or under 

the positive control of any person, or otherwise prevent, restrict, or impede any use of such 

program. 

(c)  The McBookie Platform the Documentation and, to the knowledge of the Active Shareholders, 

the Underlying Software, contain nothing that is unlawful, obscene, libelous, defamatory, or 

indecent or that infringes, misappropriates, or otherwise violates the rights of any person. 

(d)The McBookie Platform, the Documentation and, to the knowledge of the Active Shareholders, 

the Underlying Software, or any related technology or technical data (or any products that 

include or use any of the foregoing) do not constitute or contain any Controlled Technology. 

(e) Except as disclosed in Schedule 3.15 of the Disclosure Schedules, the McBookie Platform and the 

Underlying Software comply with the terms and conditions of the Software License. 

(f) To the knowledge of the Active Shareholers, the McBookie Platform and the Underlying Software 

(a) comply with all applicable Laws and industry standards, in all material respects, including 

without limitation with respect to security standards, specifications and requirements set 

forth by any applicable Governmental Authority having jurisdiction over the Business; and 

(b) except as disclosed in Schedule 3.15 of the Disclosure Schedules, conform, in all material 

respects, to all applicable contractual commitments, express and implied warranties (to the 

extent not subject to legally effective express exclusions thereof), representations and 

claims in packaging, labeling, advertising and marketing materials, and applicable 

specifications, user manuals, training materials and other documentation. 

3.16 Software 

(a) Except for the Software License, no software, technology, trade secrets, inventions or other 

intellectual property owned by any Person other than the Corporation is incorporated into 

or embedded in any of the McBookie Platform. 
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(b)The Corporation has not made, nor is the Corporation obliged under any escrow agreement or 

other Contract to make, the Software code relating to the McBookie Platform available to 

any Person who is not an employee of or consultant to the Corporation and who is subject 

to contractual obligations to keep such source code confidential to the Corporation. 

(c) The McBookie Platform does not contain, or operate in such a way that it is compiled with or 

linked to, any Open Source Components, except as specified in Section 3.16 of the 

Disclosure Schedule.  To the extent that Open Source Components are compiled with or 

linked to the McBookie Platform and specified in Section 3.16 of the Disclosure Schedule: (i) 

the use of such Open Source Components in connection with the McBookie Platform does 

not violate the terms of the licenses applicable to such Open Source Components or require 

the public disclosure of the source code to the McBookie Platform in any manner; and (ii) 

the transactions contemplated hereunder will not breach any provisions of the licenses 

applicable to such Open Source Components. 

3.17 IP Licenses 

(a)  Section 3.17 of the Disclosure Schedules sets forth a correct, current, and complete lists all 

licenses (or in the case of any oral agreements, a complete and accurate written description 

thereof), including all modifications, amendments, and supplements thereto and waivers 

thereunder, necessary to run the Business and, to the knowledge of the Active 

Shareholders, each such license is valid, binding, and enforceable between the Corporation 

and the other parties thereto; and neither the Corporation nor any other party thereto is in 

breach of or default under (or is alleged to be in breach or default under) any such license in 

any material respect, or has provided or received any notice of breach, default of, or any 

actual or intended termination of any such license. 

3.18 Personal Information Collection 

(a) All Personal Information collected from users of the Business has been collected, used, and 

disclosed by the Corporation in accordance with all applicable Privacy Laws, gaming and 

betting Laws and the terms of any gaming and betting or remote gaming licenses issued to 

the Corporation by any Governmental Authority and the transactions contemplated 

hereunder will not violate any applicable Laws or terms of the foregoing in any material 

respect. 

3.19 Unauthorized Access 

(a) To the knowledge of an Active Shareholder, there has been no unauthorized theft, reverse 

engineering, decompiling, disassembling or other unauthorized disclosure of or access to 

any material portion of the Software relating to the McBookie Platform. 

3.20 Security Breach 

(a) To the knowledge of an Active Shareholder, there has been no unauthorized access, use, 

intrusion or breach of security, or material failure, breakdown, performance reduction or 

other adverse event affecting any the Corporation’s IT infrastructure or any Personal 

Information or other data associated with the Business that has caused or could reasonably 

be expected to cause any: (i) substantial disruption of or interruption in or to the use of the 

Business ; (ii) material loss, destruction, damage or harm of or to the Corporation or its 

operations, personnel, property or other assets; (iii) liability of any kind to the to Purchaser; 

or (iv) misappropriation of Personal Information or data. 
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3.21 Systems and Backups 

(a) The Corporation has taken all reasonable actions, consistent with applicable industry practices, to 

protect the integrity and security of (a) the Corporation’s systems and the data and other 

information stored thereon; and (b) all data and other Personal Information transferred to 

the Purchaser pursuant to this Agreement. 

  

3.22 Accounts Receivable.   

(a) Section 3.22 of the Disclosure Schedules lists all receivables due or unpaid more than 60 days 

after the original due date or 90 days after the original invoice date. 

(b)The Accounts Receivable reflected on the Interim Balance Sheet and the Accounts Receivable 

arising after the date of the Interim Balance Sheet: (a) have arisen from bona fide 

transactions entered into by the Corporation in the Ordinary Course consistent with past 

practice; and (b) constitute only valid, undisputed claims of the Corporation not subject to 

claims of set-off or other defences or counter-claims other than normal cash discounts 

accrued in the Ordinary Course consistent with past practice. The reserve for bad debts 

shown on the Interim Balance Sheet or, with respect to Accounts Receivable arising after 

the Interim Balance Sheet Date, on the accounting records of the Corporation have been 

determined in accordance with UK GAAP subject to normal year-end adjustments and the 

absence of disclosures normally made in notes to financial statements.  

  

3.23 Suppliers 

  

(a) Section 3.23(a) of the Disclosure Schedules sets forth: (i) each supplier to whom the Corporation 

has paid consideration for goods or services rendered in an amount greater than or equal to 

£20,000.00 for each of the two (2) most recent financial years (collectively, the “Material 

Suppliers”); and (ii) the amount of purchases from each Material Supplier during such 

periods. Except as set forth in Section 3.23(a) of the Disclosure Schedules, the Corporation 

has not received any notice, and has no reason to believe, that any of its Material Suppliers 

has ceased, or intends to cease, to supply goods or services to the Corporation or to 

otherwise terminate or materially reduce its relationship with the Corporation. 

  

3.24 Insurance. 

(a) No insurance policies are maintained by the Corporation.  

  

3.25 Legal Proceedings; Governmental Orders 

(a) There are no Actions pending or, to the knowledge of the Active Shareholders, threatened 

against the Corporation. 

  

(b)There are no outstanding Governmental Orders and no judgments, penalties or awards against or 

affecting the Corporation or any of its Assets. No events or circumstances have arisen that 

may constitute or result in a violation of any Governmental Order. 

  

3.26 Compliance with Laws; Permits 

(a)  Except as set forth in Section 3.26 of the Disclosure Schedule, the Corporation has complied, and 

is now complying, with all Laws applicable to it or its Business or Assets in all material 
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respects.  

  

(b)All Permits required for the Corporation to conduct its Business have been obtained by it and are 

valid and in full force and effect. All fees and charges with respect to such Permits as of the 

date hereof have been paid in full. Section 3.26(b) of the Disclosure Schedules lists all 

current Permits issued to the Corporation and their respective dates of issuance and 

expiration. No event has occurred that would reasonably be expected to result in the 

revocation or limitation of any Permit set forth in Section 3.26(b) of the Disclosure 

Schedules. 

  

3.27  Benefit Plans 

(a) There are no Benefit Plans in place for the Corporation and there are no unsatisfied or yet-to-be 

satisfied Liabilities relating to any prior Benefit Plans.  

 

3.28 Employment Matters 

(a) Section 3.28(a) of the Disclosure Schedules sets forth the list of Employees and indicates: (i) the 

titles of all Employees together with the location of their employment; (ii) the date each 

Employee was hired; (iii) which Employees are subject to a written employment agreement 

with the Corporation; (iv) the annual wage of each Employee at the date of such list, any 

bonuses paid to each Employee since the end of the Corporation’s last completed financial 

year and before the date of such list and all other bonuses, incentive schemes, benefits, 

commissions and other  compensation to which each Employee is entitled; (v) the vacation 

days to which each Employee is entitled on the date of such list; and (vi) the Employees that 

are not actively working on the date of this Agreement due to leave of absence, illness, 

injury, accident or other disabling condition. 

  

(b) The Corporation has only two employees, Paul Petrie and Damian Walker. There are no written 

employment agreements and both employees receive an annual salary of £8424 each. 

   

(c) The Corporation is not currently, and has not been, a party to any collective agreement. No 

employee bargaining agency holds, or is attempting to hold, bargaining rights with respect 

to any of the Employees. 

  

(d)The Corporation has no current Independent Contractors.  

  

(e) The Corporation has not received notice of actual, threatened or pending complaints filed by any 

of its Employees or former employees against the Corporation, any current or former 

employees of the Corporation, or any current or former director or officer. 

  

(f) There has been no increase in compensation from the base salary payable to the Employees 

between the Interim Balance Sheet Date and the date of this Agreement. 

  

(g) The Corporation is in good standing under workplace safety, workers’ compensation, and 

worker’s insurance Laws, in all material respects, and has not been subject to a proceeding 

or inquiry from any Governmental authority administering such Laws in the past five (5) 

years. All inspection reports under workplace safety laws have been made available to 
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Purchaser. There are no outstanding Governmental Orders nor any pending charges under 

workplace safety laws relating to the Corporation or the Business.  

  

3.29 Taxes.  

(a) The Corporation has duly and timely filed all of its Tax Returns with all appropriate Governmental 

Authorities. Each such Tax Return was true, correct and complete in all material respects. All 

Taxes assessed against, or due by, the Corporation have been fully paid. 

  

(b)To the knowledge of an Active Shareholder, there is no basis for a claim that the Corporation is 

subject to Tax in a jurisdiction in which the Corporation does not file Tax Returns. 

  

(c) The Corporation has been assessed Taxes in the amount of £21K for all applicable Taxes to and 

including for the financial period ending 31 December 2018 and such amount is payable by 

31 September 2019. There are no matters under audit or appeal with any Governmental 

Authority relating to Taxes of the Corporation. 

  

(d)True copies of all Tax Returns prepared and filed by the Corporation during the past three (3) 

years, together with any notices of assessment of the Corporation during the past three (3) 

years, have been made available to Purchaser on or before the date of this Agreement. 

   

(e) There are no actual, or, to the knowledge of an Active Shareholder, pending, assessments, audit 

investigations, or other Actions of or against the Corporation by any Governmental 

Authority relating to Taxes. No Governmental Authority has given notice of any intention to 

assert any deficiency or claim for additional Taxes against the Corporation. 

 

(f) For all transactions between the Corporation and any Person with whom the Corporation was not 

dealing at arm’s length, the Corporation has made or obtained records or documents that 

meet the requirements of applicable Tax Laws. 

  

(g) The Corporation has properly withheld or collected the proper amount of Taxes that are required 

by Law to withheld or collected (including Taxes and other amounts required to be withheld 

by it in respect of any Person) and have properly remitted to the appropriate Governmental 

Authority such Taxes and other amounts required to be remitted by the Corporation. 

  

(h)Except for the acquisition of control that will occur by virtue of the execution of this Agreement, 

for purposes of any applicable Tax Law, no Person or group of Persons other than the 

Shareholders has ever acquired control of the Corporation. 

   

(i) The Corporation is not a party to, or bound by, any Tax indemnity, Tax sharing or Tax allocation 

agreement. 

  

 

3.30 Related Party Transactions. Except as set forth in Section 3.30 of the Disclosure Schedules: 

(a) The Corporation is not in a debtor-creditor relationship with any officer, director, employee, 

trustee or shareholder or any Person with whom the Corporation is not dealing at arm’s 
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length or any Affiliate or spouse of any of the foregoing (each, a “Related Person”). 

  

(b)No Related Person: (i) possesses, directly or indirectly, any financial interest in, or is a director, 

officer or employee of, any competitor or supplier, dealer, lessor or lessee of the 

Corporation; or (ii) has any interest in any assets used or held for use by the Corporation. 

  

3.31 Books and Records.  The Books and Records of the Corporation, all of which have been made available to 

Purchaser, are complete and correct, in all material respects, and have been maintained in accordance 

with sound business practices. At the Closing, all of the Books and Records will be in the possession of 

the Corporation. 

 

3.32 Segregated Accounts.  The Corporation has at all times maintained and continues to maintain Player 

Funds, as that term is defined at the end of this paragraph, segregated from general or operating or 

other accounts of the Corporation. The Corporation maintains Player Funds in a separate dedicated 

bank account expressly maintained for the purpose of holding Player Funds. Player Funds are managed 

by Star Racing Limited. At no time has the Player Funds account been less than an amount equal to the 

total of all deposits held for and owing to users of the Website from time to time. Player Funds means, 

at any given moment, an amount equal to the total deposits made by users of the Website less total 

amounts deducted by the Corporation in connection to gaming and betting losses experienced by 

those users on the Website, less any payment processing or other transaction fees expressly 

communicated to those users as payable by them, communicated at the time the user makes a deposit 

to the Website.  

 

3.33 Brokers.  The payment of any brokerage, finder’s or other fee or commission in connection with the 

transactions contemplated by this Agreement are set out in Section 3.33 of the Disclosure Schedules, 

based upon arrangements made by or on behalf of Active Shareholders or the Corporation and shall at 

all times be and remain the sole and exclusive responsibility of the Active Shareholders. 

  

3.34 Anti-Money Laundering and Anti-Corruption Practices 

(a) To the knowledge of the Corporation, it is, and at no point has not been, in compliance, in 

all material respects, with all applicable anti-money laundering laws and regulations 

(collectively, the “Anti-Money Laundering Laws”). The Corporation has contracted out the 

responsibility for Anti-Money Laundering Laws to Star Racing Limited and Star Racing 

Limited has assisted the Corporation in establishing a “know your customer” and 

anti-money laundering compliance program as required by, and in full compliance with, 

Anti-Money Laundering Laws. 

(b)Neither the Corporation nor any of its directors, officers, employees, agents, consultants, or 

representatives has violated, and the Active Shareholders’ execution and delivery of and 

performance of its obligations under this Agreement will not violate, any Laws related to 

money laundering or government guidance regarding anti-money laundering. 
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(c) Neither the Corporation nor any of its directors, officers, employees, agents, consultants, or 

representatives has on behalf of, or for the benefit of, the Corporation: (i) knowingly used 

any corporate funds for any unlawful contribution, gift, or other unlawful expense relating 

to political activity, or (ii) paid or received any bribe or otherwise unlawfully offered or 

provided, directly or indirectly, anything of value to (or received anything of value from) any 

foreign or domestic government employee or official or any other Person. 

 

3.35  Privacy and Data Protection  

(a) The Corporation (i) maintains privacy policies and procedures (each, a “Company Privacy 

Policy”); (ii) is in compliance, in all material respects, with each applicable Company Privacy 

Policy; and (iii) takes commercially reasonable steps to protect such personally identifiable 

information maintained on its systems from unauthorized third-party access and acquisition.  

(b)To the knowledge of the Active Shareholders, there have been no (i) losses or thefts of, or 

security breach of any of its systems resulting in any third-party access to, or acquisition of 

any personally identifiable information of the users of its products and services stored on 

such systems; (ii) unauthorized access or unauthorized use of any such personally 

identifiable information; or (iii) improper disclosure of any personally identifiable 

information in the possession, custody or control of the Corporation or any Person acting on 

their behalf. 

(c) The Corporation has at all times (i) complied, in all material respects, with all applicable Privacy 

Laws, regulatory and self-regulatory requirements and codes, published interpretations by 

Governmental Authorities of such Privacy Laws, and all similar consumer protection or 

privacy laws relating to the receipt, collection, compilation, use, storage, processing, 

sharing, safeguarding, security, disposal, destruction, disclosure, or transfer (including the 

transfer by or on behalf of the Corporation of Personal Information or User Data from the 

European Economic Area to any jurisdiction in respect of which the European Commission 

has not issued an adequacy decision) of Personal Information (including employee data) or 

User Data. 

(d)The transfer of Personal Information and User Data in connection with the transactions 

contemplated by this Agreement will not violate any applicable Privacy Laws or the privacy 

policies of the Corporation as they currently exist or as they existed at any time during 

which any of the Personal Information or User Data was collected or obtained. The 

Corporation is not subject to any contractual requirements that, following the Closing, 

would prohibit the Corporation from receiving or using Personal Information or User Data in 

the manner in which the Corporation receives and uses such Personal Information or User 

Data before the Closing. 

 

3.36 Know Your Customer 

(a) The Corporation is, and has been at all material times, in full compliance with its know your 

customer rules and regulations under applicable Laws and as set forth by the UK Gambling 

Commission and other Governmental Authorities having jurisdiction over the Business. 

(b)Each customer of the Corporation is, and while a customer of the Corporation has been been, of 

the age of majority and of legal age and capacity to participate in gambling and sports 

betting activities, under all applicable Laws. 
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3.37 Customer List 

(a) The customer list provided to the Purchaser by the Corporation is a true and complete list of each 

customer, client or user of the Business, including all former customers, clients or users, 

and: 

(i) is exclusively owned by the Corporation; 

(ii) has not been licensed, sold or otherwise disposed of or encumbered by to any other Person; 

and 

(b)no copies of such customer list are held by any other Person. 

 

3.38 Full Disclosure. 

(a) No representation or warranty by any Active Shareholders or the Corporation in this Agreement 

and no statement contained in the Disclosure Schedules to this Agreement or any certificate 

or other document furnished or to be furnished to Purchaser in connection with the 

negotiation of this Agreement or pursuant to this Agreement contains any untrue statement 

of a material fact, or omits to state a material fact necessary to make the statements 

contained therein, in light of the circumstances in which they are made, not misleading. 

 

ARTICLE IV  
Representations and Warranties of the Shareholders 

   

Except as set forth in the correspondingly numbered Section of the Disclosure Schedules, each of the 

Shareholders and the Corporation, as applicable, severally represents and warrants to Purchaser that the 

statements contained in this Article IV are true and correct as of the date of this Agreement and the Closing: 

 

4.01 Corporate and Legal Matters. If it is not an individual, it has the corporate power and capacity to enter 

into this Agreement and any related documents to which it is a party, to carry out its obligations in 

respect of this Agreement, and to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement; and 

if it is an individual, it is of full age of majority. 

 

4.02 Requisite Actions. Each Shareholder and the Corporation has the legal power and capacity and has taken 

all necessary action and has obtained all necessary approvals to enter into and execute this Agreement 

and to carry out its obligations hereunder. 

 

4.03 Execution. The Corporation and the Shareholders have duly executed this Agreement and this Agreement 

constitutes a legal, valid and binding obligation of it enforceable against it in accordance with the 

Agreement’s terms; 

 

4.04 No Conflicts.  The execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement, and the consummation of the 

transactions contemplated by this Agreement by the Corporation and the Shareholders do not and will 

not:  

(a) conflict with or result in a breach or default of any provision of the Articles or other constating 

documents of the Corporation; 

or 
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(b)conflict with any provision of any Law or Governmental Order applicable to it in any material 

respect. 

 

4.05 No Consents. With the exception of renewed know your customer checks on the Purchaser, no consent, 

approval, Permit, Governmental Order, declaration or filing with, or notice to, any Governmental 

Authority is required by or with respect to it in connection with its execution and delivery of this 

Agreement and its consummation of the transactions or actions contemplated under this Agreement. 

 

4.06 Ownership of Shares. The Shareholders are the registered holder and beneficial owner of one-hundred 

percent (100%) right, title, and interest in and to its respective Shares as indicated in Schedule B 

hereto; each Shareholder has good and marketable title to such Shares free and clear of all Adverse 

Interests; the Shares are validly issued and outstanding as fully paid and non-assessable securities in 

the capital of the Corporation; the Shareholders hold no other shares in the capital of the Corporation 

other than such Shares; and the Shareholders hold no right, privilege, option, warrant, or agreement 

to purchase or otherwise acquire, directly or indirectly, any other shares in the capital of the 

Corporation; and no person has any right, privilege, option, warrant, or agreement, contingent or 

otherwise, or any of the foregoing capable of become any right, privilege, option, warrant, or 

agreement, to purchase or otherwise acquire, directly or indirectly, any of a Shareholder’s Shares or 

any interest or entitlement therein (other than as provided by this Agreement). 

 

4.07 No Shareholders’ Agreement. Neither the Corporation nor the Shareholders are a party to any unanimous 

shareholders agreement, escrow agreement, pooling agreement, voting trust or similar arrangements 

or obligations in respect of its respective Shares or any other securities of the Corporation. 

 

4.08 Purchaser Shares 

(a) it has been independently advised as to the restrictions with respect to trading in the Purchaser 

Shares or Amalco Shares imposed by applicable securities Laws and acknowledges that no 

representation has been made to it by or on behalf of the Purchaser with respect thereto; 

(b)it is aware of the characteristics of the Purchaser Shares or Amalco Shares, the risks relating to an 

investment therein and of the fact that it may not be able to resell the Purchaser Shares 

except in accordance with limited exemptions under applicable securities Laws and 

regulatory policy until expiry of the applicable restricted period and compliance with the 

other requirements of Applicable Law, and agrees that any certificates representing the 

Purchaser Shares or Amalco Shares may bear a legend indicating that the resale of such 

securities is restricted; 

(c) it has not received or been provided with, nor has it requested, nor does it have any need to 

receive, any offering memorandum, or any other document describing the business and 

affairs of the Purchaser in order to assist it in making an investment decision in respect of 

the Purchaser Shares  or Amalco Shares; 

(d)it is acquiring the Purchaser Shares or Amalco Shares as principal, for investment only and not for 

the benefit of any other person; 

(e) it is aware that the Purchaser Shares  or Amalco Shares have not been registered under the 

United States Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “U.S. Securities Act”) or the securities 

laws of any state and that the Purchaser Shares or Amalco Shares may not be offered or sold 
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in the United States without registration under the U.S. Securities Act or compliance with 

requirements of an exemption from registration; 

(f) it is either (i) not a U.S. Person (as defined in Rule 902 of Regulation S under the U.S. Securities 

Act, which definition includes, but is not limited to, an individual resident in the United 

States, an estate or trust of which any executor or administrator or trustee, respectively, is a 

U.S. Person and any partnership or corporation organized or incorporated under the laws of 

the United States) and is not acquiring the Purchaser Shares or Amalco Shares on behalf of, 

or for the account or benefit of, a person in the United States or a U.S. Person, or (ii) a U.S. 

Person and is an Accredited Investor under Rule 501(a) of Regulation D of the U.S. Securities 

Act; 

(g) it undertakes and agrees that it will not offer or sell the Purchaser Shares or Amalco Shares in the 

United States unless such securities are registered under the U.S. Securities Act and the 

securities laws of all applicable states of the United States or an exemption from such 

registration requirements is available, and further that it will not resell the Purchaser Shares  

or Amalco Shares in any jurisdiction, except in accordance with the provisions of applicable 

securities Laws, regulations, rules, policies and orders and stock exchange rules; and 

(h)it acknowledges that no representation has been made to it with respect to the future value or 

price of the Purchaser Shares or Amalco Shares or that any person will resell, repurchase or 

refund the Purchaser Shares or Amalco Shares or any portion thereof. 

 

4.09 Legal Proceedings; Governmental Orders 

(a) To the knowledge of the Shareholders, there are no Actions pending or threatened against any 

Shareholder or its Affiliates which might affect this Agreement or the transactions 

contemplated by this Agreement.  

 

4.10 Related Party Transactions. Except as set forth in Section 3.30 of the Disclosure Schedules: 

  

(a) neither it nor any of its Affiliates (each, a “Related Party”) is a party to any Contract with the 

Corporation, no Related Party is indebted to the Corporation and the Corporation is not 

indebted to any Related Party. 

 

ARTICLE V 

Representations and Warranties of Purchaser 

   

Purchaser represents and warrants to Shareholders that the statements contained in this Article V are true and 

correct as of the date hereof. 

 

5.01 Corporate Status and Authorization of Purchaser. Purchaser is a corporation incorporated and validly 

existing under the Laws of British Columbia and has not been discontinued or dissolved under such 

Laws. No steps or proceedings have been taken to authorize or require such discontinuance or 

dissolution. Purchaser has submitted all notices or returns of corporate information and other filings 

required by Law to be submitted by it to any Governmental Authority. Purchaser has the corporate 

power and capacity to enter into this Agreement, to carry out its obligations under, and to 

consummate the transactions contemplated by, this Agreement. Purchaser’s execution, delivery, and 
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performance of this Agreement have been duly authorized by all requisite corporate action on the part 

of Purchaser. This Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by Purchaser, and (assuming due 

authorization, execution and delivery by Shareholders) this Agreement constitutes a legal, valid and 

binding obligation of Purchaser enforceable against Purchaser in accordance with its terms.  

  

5.02 No Conflicts; Consents. The execution, delivery and performance by Purchaser of this Agreement, and the 

consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, do not and will not:  

(a) conflict with or result in a breach of, or default under, any provision of the Articles, unanimous 

shareholder agreements or other constating documents of Purchaser;  

(b)conflict with or result in a breach of any provision of any Law or Governmental Order applicable 

to Purchaser, as the case may be; or  

(c) require the consent, notice or other action by any Person under any Contract to which Purchaser, 

as the case may be, is a party. Except the consent of the CSE, no consent, approval, Permit, 

Governmental Order, declaration or filing with, or notice to, any Governmental Authority is 

required by or with respect to Purchaser, as the case may be, in connection with the 

execution and delivery of this Agreement and the consummation of the transactions 

contemplated by this Agreement. 

  

5.03 Legal Proceedings. There are no Actions pending or, to Purchaser’s knowledge, threatened against or by 

Purchaser or any Affiliate thereof that challenge or seek to prevent, enjoin or otherwise delay the 

transactions contemplated by this Agreement. No event has occurred or circumstances exist that may 

give rise or serve as a basis for any such Action. 

5.04 Capitalization. The authorized capital of the Purchaser consists of an unlimited number of common 

shares, of which 69,831,000 common shares are issued and outstanding (for greater certainty, the 

foregoing does not include the Consideration Shares to be issued on Closing).  The Purchaser has 

issued stock options exercisable for the purchase of up to 6,265,000 common shares. The Purchaser 

has issued warrants exercisable for the purchase of up to 0 common shares. Other than the issued and 

outstanding common shares of the Purchaser and the options and warrants described in this Section 

5.04, there are no agreements, options, warrants, rights of conversion or other rights binding upon or 

which at any time in the future may become binding upon the Purchaser to issue any shares or any 

securities convertible or exchangeable, directly or indirectly, into shares of the Purchaser. All of the 

outstanding common shares of the Purchaser have been duly authorized, are fully paid and 

nonassessable and were issued in compliance with all applicable federal and state securities laws. The 

Purchaser Shares, when issued, sold and delivered in accordance with the terms and for the 

consideration set forth in this Agreement, will be validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable and free 

of restrictions on transfer other than restrictions on transfer under applicable provincial, state and 

federal securities laws, stock exchange policies and liens or encumbrances created by or imposed by a 

Purchaser.  

5.05 No Agents. No broker, agent or other intermediary has been engaged by the Purchaser in connection with 

the transactions contemplated hereby, and consequently, no commission is payable or due to a third 

party from the Purchaser. 

5.06 Full Disclosure. No representation or warranty by the Purchaser in this Agreement and no statement 

contained in the Disclosure Schedules to this Agreement or any certificate or other document 

furnished or to be furnished to the Corporation or the Shareholders in connection with the negotiation 

of this Agreement or pursuant to this Agreement contains any untrue statement of a material fact, or 
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omits to state a material fact necessary to make the statements contained therein, in light of the 

circumstances in which they are made, not misleading. 

5.07 Reliance. The Purchaser agrees that the Corporation and the Shareholders have entered into this 

Agreement relying on the warranties and representations and other terms and conditions of the 

Purchaser contained in this Agreement, notwithstanding any independent searches or investigations 

that have been, or may be, undertaken by or on behalf of the Corporation and the Shareholders, and 

that no information which is now known or should be known, or which may hereafter become known, 

by the Corporation, the Shareholders or their respective officers, directors or professional advisers 

prior to the Closing will limit or extinguish the Corporation’s or the Shareholders’ right to 

indemnification hereunder. 

  

   

ARTICLE VI  
Covenants 

 

6.01 Conduct of Business Before the Closing.  From the date of this Agreement until the Closing, except as 

otherwise provided in this Agreement or consented to in writing by Purchaser, Shareholders shall, and 

shall cause the Corporation to:  

(a) conduct the Business of the Corporation in the Ordinary Course consistent with past practice;  

(b)use reasonable best efforts to maintain and preserve intact the current organization and Business 

of the Corporation and to preserve the rights, franchises, goodwill and relationships of its 

employees, customers, lenders, suppliers, regulators and others having business 

relationships with the Corporation. Without limiting the foregoing, from the date hereof 

until the Closing Date, Shareholders shall cause the Corporation to: 

(i) preserve and maintain all of its Permits; 

  

(ii) pay its debts, Taxes and other obligations when due; 

  

(iii) maintain the Assets owned, operated or used by the Corporation in the same condition as 

they were on the date of this Agreement, subject to reasonable wear and tear; 

  

(iv) continue in full force and effect without modification all Insurance Policies, except as 

required by applicable Law; 

  

(v) defend and protect its Assets from infringement or usurpation; 

  

(vi) perform all of its obligations under all Contracts relating to or affecting its Assets or Business; 

  

(vii)maintain the Books and Records in accordance with past practice; 

  

(viii) not make any loans, advances or capital contributions to any Person other than Related 

Party Debt; 

  

(ix) not:  
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1. make, change or revoke, or permit the Corporation to make, change or revoke, 

any Tax election, or file or cause to be filed an amended Tax Return unless 

required by Law, or  

2. make, or permit the Corporation to make, any change in any Tax or accounting 

methods or policies or systems of internal accounting controls, except to 

conform to changes in Laws related to Taxes or accounting requirements; 

  

(c) not terminate (otherwise than for cause) the employment or services of any director, officer or 

manager (except as contemplated by Section 6.01(c) of the Disclosure Schedules), or grant 

any severance or termination pay to any director, officer or manager or any other employee 

(except for those listed in Section 6.01(c) of the Disclosure Schedules or as required under 

any existing Contract or as required by Law); 

  

(d)comply, in all material respects, with all applicable Laws; and 

  

(e) not take or permit any action that would cause any of the changes, events or conditions 

described in Section 3.09 to occur. 

  

6.02 Access to Information.  From the date hereof until the Closing, the Corporation and the Shareholders 

shall: (a) afford Purchaser and its Representatives full and free access to and the right to inspect all of 

the Assets, premises, Books and Records, Contracts and other documents and data related to the 

Corporation; (b) furnish Purchaser and its Representatives with such financial, operating and other 

data and information related to the Corporation as Purchaser or any of its Representatives may 

reasonably request; and (c) instruct the Representatives of Shareholders and the Corporation to 

cooperate with Purchaser in its investigation of the Corporation. Any investigation under this Section 

6.02 shall be conducted in such manner as not to interfere unreasonably with the conduct of the 

Business of Shareholders or the Corporation.No investigation by Purchaser or other information 

received byPurchaser shall operate as a waiver or otherwise affect any representation, warranty or 

agreement given or made by Shareholders in this Agreement. 

  

6.03 No Solicitation of Other Bids 

(a) From the date hereof until the Closing, the Corporation and the Shareholders shall not, and shall 

not authorize or permit any of their respective Affiliates or any of their or their Affiliates’ 

Representatives to, directly or indirectly, encourage, continue, or otherwise participate in 

any discussions or activities which might lead to an agreement, arrangement or 

understanding that in its design or intent would conflict or interfere with all or a portion of 

this Agreement or the spirit of this Agreement. 

  

(b)In addition to the other obligations under this Section 6.03, the Corporation and the Shareholders 

shall notify Purchaser orally and in writing of any discussions or activities, whether actual or 

proposed, such as those discussed in Section 6.03(a). 

  

(c) The Corporation and the Shareholders agree that the rights and remedies for non-compliance 

with this Section 6.03 shall include having such provision specifically enforced by any court 

of competent equitable jurisdiction, it being acknowledged and agreed that any such breach 
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or threatened breach shall cause irreparable injury to Purchaser and that monetary 

damages would not provide an adequate remedy for Purchaser. 

  

6.04 Notice of Certain Events 

(a) From the date hereof until the Closing, Shareholders shall notify Purchaser in writing of any: 

 

(i) fact, circumstance, event or action the existence, occurrence or taking of which (A) has had, or 

could reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Material 

Adverse Effect, (B) has resulted in, or could reasonably be expected to result in, any 

representation or warranty made by Shareholders hereunder not being true and 

correct, or (C) has resulted in, or could reasonably be expected to result in, the failure of 

any of the conditions set forth in Section 7.02 to be satisfied; 

(ii) notice or other communication from any Person alleging that the consent of such Person is or 

may be required in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement; 

(iii) notice or other communication from any Governmental Authority in connection with the 

transactions contemplated by this Agreement; and 

(iv)Actions commenced or threatened against, relating to or involving or otherwise affecting 

Shareholders or the Corporation that, if pending on the date of this Agreement, would 

have been required to have been disclosed under Section 3.25 or that relates to the 

consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement. 

(b)Purchaser’s receipt of information under this Section 6.04 shall not operate as a waiver or 

otherwise affect any representation, warranty or agreement given or made by Shareholders 

in this Agreement. 

 

6.05 Resignations.  Shareholders and the Corporation shall deliver to Purchaser written resignations, effective 

as of the Closing Date, of the officers and directors of the Corporation requested by Purchaser at least 

five (5) Business Days before the Closing. 

  

6.06 Confidentiality.  From and after the Closing, each of Peter Jones, Ross Bar, Elizabeth Jones and Kenny 

Logan (collectively, the “Non-Active Shareholders”) shall, and shall cause its Affiliates and their 

respective Representatives to, hold in confidence any and all information, whether written or oral, 

concerning the Corporation, the Purchaser and the matters contemplated under this Agreement, 

except to the extent that the Non-Active Shareholders can show that such information: (a) is generally 

available to and known by the public through no fault of such Non-Active Shareholder, its Affiliates or 

any of their respective Representatives; or (b) is lawfully acquired by such Non-Active Shareholder, its 

Affiliates or any of their respective Representatives from sources that are not prohibited from 

disclosing such information by a legal, contractual or fiduciary obligation. If a Non-Active Shareholder, 

any of its Affiliates or any of their respective Representatives are compelled to disclose any 

information by judicial or administrative process or by other requirements of Law, such Non-Active 

Shareholder shall notify Purchaser in writing and shall disclose only that portion of such information 

that such Non-Active Shareholder is advised by its counsel in writing is legally required to be disclosed; 

provided that such Shareholder shall use its reasonable best efforts to obtain an appropriate 

protective order or other reasonable assurance that confidential treatment will be accorded such 

information. 
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6.07 Personal Information Privacy.  Purchaser shall at all times comply with all Laws governing the protection 

of personal information with respect to Personal Information disclosed or otherwise provided to 

Purchaser by Shareholders or the Corporation under this Agreement. Purchaser shall only collect, use 

or disclose such Personal Information for the purposes of investigating the Corporation and the 

Business as contemplated in this Agreement and completing the transactions contemplated in this 

Agreement. Purchaser shall safeguard all Personal Information collected from Shareholders or the 

Corporation in a manner consistent with the degree of sensitivity of the Personal Information and 

maintain the security and integrity of the Personal Information. Purchaser shall not make copies of the 

Personal Information or any excerpts thereof or in any way recreate the substance or contents of the 

Personal Information if the purchase of the Shares is not completed for any reason and shall return all 

Personal Information to Shareholders or destroy such Personal Information at Shareholders’ request. 

  

6.08 Non-Competition; Non-Solicitation 

(a) Provided that the Purchaser has complied with all of its obligations under this Agreement and any 

other agreement with the applicable Shareholder, for a period of eighteen (18) months 

commencing on the Closing Date (the “Restricted Period”), each Shareholder shall not, and 

shall not permit any of its Affiliates to, directly or indirectly: (i) engage in or assist others in 

engaging in the Business in the Territory; (ii) have an interest in any Person that engages 

directly or indirectly in the Business in the Territory in any capacity, including as a partner, 

shareholder, member, employee, principal, agent, trustee or consultant; or (iii) intentionally 

interfere, in any material respect, with the business relationships (whether formed before or 

after the date of this Agreement) between the Corporation and customers or suppliers of 

the Corporation. Notwithstanding the foregoing, a Shareholder may own, directly or 

indirectly, solely as an investment, securities of any Person traded on any stock exchange if 

such Shareholder is not a controlling Person of, or a member of a group which controls, such 

Person and does not, directly or indirectly, own five percent (5%) or more of any class of 

securities of such Person. 

 

(b)Provided that the Purchaser has complied with all of its obligations under this Agreement and any 

other agreement with the applicable Shareholder, during the Restricted Period, each 

Shareholder shall not, and shall not permit any of its Affiliates to, directly or indirectly, hire 

or solicit any Employee or encourage any Employee to leave his or her employment or hire 

any Employee who has left such employment, except pursuant to a general solicitation that 

is not directed specifically to any such employees; provided that nothing in this Section 

6.08(b) shall prevent any Shareholder or any of its Affiliates from hiring: (i) any Employee 

whose employment has been terminated by the Corporation or Purchaser; or (ii) after 180 

days from the date of termination of employment, any Employee whose employment has 

been terminated by the Employee. 

  

(c) Provided that the Purchaser has complied with all of its obligations under this Agreement and any 

other agreement with the applicable Shareholder, during the Restricted Period, each 

Shareholder shall not, and shall not permit any of its Affiliates to, directly or indirectly, solicit 

or entice, or attempt to solicit or entice, any clients or customers of the Corporation or 

potential clients or customers of the Corporation for purposes of diverting their business or 

services from the Corporation. 

  



 

30 

 

(d)Each Shareholder acknowledges that a breach or threatened breach of Section 6.06 and this 

Section 6.08 would give rise to irreparable harm to Purchaser, for which monetary damages 

would not be an adequate remedy, and hereby agrees that, in the event of a breach or a 

threatened breach by Shareholders of any such obligations, Purchaser, as the case may be, 

shall, in addition to any and all other rights and remedies that may be available to it in 

respect of such breach, be entitled to equitable relief, including a temporary restraining 

order, an interim or permanent injunction, specific performance and any other relief that 

may be available from a court of competent equitable jurisdiction (without any requirement 

to post a bond or other security). 

  

(e) Subject to Section 6.08(f), each Shareholder acknowledges that the restrictions contained in this 

Section 6.08 are reasonable and necessary to protect the legitimate interests of Purchaser 

and constitute a material inducement to Purchaser’s entering into this Agreement and 

consummating the transactions contemplated by this Agreement. The covenants contained 

in this Section 6.08 and each provision hereof are severable and distinct covenants and 

provisions. The invalidity or unenforceability of any such covenant or provision as written 

shall not invalidate or render unenforceable the remaining covenants or provisions hereof, 

and any such invalidity or unenforceability in any jurisdiction shall not invalidate or render 

unenforceable such covenant or provision in any other jurisdiction. 

(f) Notwithstanding the foregoing or any other provision in this Agreement, the Corporation and the 

Purchaser acknowledge that the restrictions contained in this Section 6.08 are not 

applicable in the case that a Shareholder, who is also an employee of the Corporation or the 

Purchaser, is terminated from his or her employment without cause.  

 

6.09 Governmental Filings, Approvals and Consents 

(a) The Corporation, the Shareholders and the Purchaser shall use their respective commercially 

reasonable efforts to give all notices to, and obtain all consents from, all third parties as 

required in order to consummate the transactions contemplated herein. 

  

(b)If any consent, approval or authorization necessary to preserve any right or benefit under any 

Contract to which the Corporation is a party is not obtained before the Closing, the 

Shareholders shall, subsequent to the Closing, cooperate with Purchaser and the 

Corporation in attempting to obtain such consent, approval or authorization as promptly 

thereafter as practicable. If such consent, approval or authorization cannot be obtained, the 

Shareholders shall use their best efforts to provide the Corporation with the rights and 

benefits of the affected Contract for the term thereof and, if the Shareholders provide such 

rights and benefits, the Corporation shall assume all obligations and burdens thereunder. 

  

6.10 Books and Records 

(a) To facilitate the resolution of any claims made against or incurred by Shareholders before the 

Closing, or for any other reasonable purpose, for a period of six (6) years after the Closing, 

Purchaser shall: 

(i) retain the Books and Records (including personnel files) of the Corporation relating to periods 

before the Closing in a manner reasonably consistent with the prior practices of the 

Corporation; and 
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(ii) upon reasonable notice, afford the Representatives of Shareholders reasonable access 

(including the right to make, at Shareholders’ expense, photocopies), during normal 

business hours, to the Books and Records. 

  

(b)To facilitate the resolution of any claims made by or against or incurred by the Corporation after 

the Closing, or for any other reasonable purpose, for a period of six (6) years after the 

Closing, Shareholders shall: 

(i) retain the Books and Records (including personnel files) of Shareholders which relate to the 

Corporation and its operations for periods before the Closing; and 

(ii) upon reasonable notice, afford the Representatives of Purchaser or the Corporation 

reasonable access (including the right to make, at Purchaser’s or the Corporation’s, as 

the case may be, expense, photocopies), during normal business hours, to the Books 

and Records. 

  

(c) Neither Purchaser nor Shareholders shall be obligated to provide the other party with access to 

any Books or Records (including personnel files) under this Section 6.10 where such access 

would violate any Law. 

 

6.11 Pre-Closing Tax Period and Closing Date Tax Year 

(a) On or before the statutory due date, the Corporation shall prepare in accordance with applicable 

Law and past practice of the Corporation and after providing Purchaser with a reasonable 

opportunity (which, in any event, shall not be fewer than fifteen (15) Business Days before 

the date on which such Tax Returns are required to be filed) to review and, in the case of 

any Tax Returns upon receipt of Purchaser’s approval, file, all income Tax Returns of the 

Corporation required by Law to be filed for any Pre-Closing Tax Period of the Corporation 

that are not required to be filed on or before the Closing Date. 

  

(b)On or before the statutory due date, Purchaser shall prepare in accordance with applicable Law 

and past practice of the Corporation and after providing Shareholders with a reasonable 

opportunity (which, in any event, shall not be fewer than fifteen (15) Business Days before 

the date on which such Tax Returns are required to be filed) to review and, in the case of 

any Tax Returns upon receipt of Shareholders’ approval, not to be unreasonably withheld, 

conditioned or delayed, file, on behalf of and in the name of the Corporation, all income Tax 

Returns of the Corporation required by Law to be filed for the taxation year of the 

Corporation that includes the Closing Date (the “Closing Date Tax Year”). 

  

(c) After Closing, Purchaser shall provide, and shall cause the Corporation to provide, to Shareholders 

such information and assistance as is reasonably requested by the Shareholders for the 

purposes of preparing the Tax Returns referred to in Section 6.11(a). 

  

(d)The parties will inform each other of, and co-operate with each other in respect of, any audit 

inquiries with respect to any Tax Return involving the Corporation and the Pre-Closing Tax 

Period or of any Tax Return required to be filed for the Closing Date Tax Year. 

  

(e) If Purchaser or the Corporation receives an assessment or reassessment (each, an “Assessment”) 



 

32 

 

in respect of any Tax Return for any Pre-Closing Tax Period or any Tax Return filed for the 

Closing Date Tax Year, Purchaser will shall deliver to Shareholders a copy of the Assessment 

within 30 days of receiving the Assessment, provided that failure to do so shall not affect the 

indemnification provided hereunder except only to the extent that Shareholders shall have 

been actually prejudiced as a result of such failure. The parties will co-operate in responding 

to or contesting any Assessment.  

6.12 Disclosure Documents. 

(a) During the Interim Period, the Purchaser will take all steps reasonably necessary to ensure that 

the Amalgamation and the Listing occur in a timely manner pursuant to the terms of Article 

2 of this Agreement. . 

6.13 Closing Conditions.  During the Interim Period, each party hereto shall use its commercially reasonable 

efforts to take such actions as are necessary to expeditiously satisfy the closing conditions set forth in 

Article VII. 

  

6.14 Public Announcements.  Unless otherwise required by applicable Law or stock exchange requirements 

(based upon the reasonable advice of counsel), no party to this Agreement shall make any public 

announcements in respect of this Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby or otherwise 

communicate with any news media without the prior written consent of the other party (which 

consent shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed), and the parties shall cooperate as to the 

timing and contents of any such announcement. 

 

6.15 Further Assurances. Following the Closing, each of the parties hereto shall, and shall cause their 

respective Affiliates to, execute and deliver such additional documents, instruments, conveyances and 

assurances and take such further actions as may be reasonably required to carry out the provisions 

hereof and give effect to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement. 

  

ARTICLE VII  
Conditions to Closing 

   

7.01 Conditions to Obligations of All Parties.  The obligations of each party to consummate the transactions 

contemplated by this Agreement shall be subject to the fulfillment, at or before the Closing, of each of 

the following conditions: 

  

(a) No Governmental Authority shall have enacted, issued, promulgated, enforced or entered any 

Governmental Order which is in effect and has the effect of making the transactions 

contemplated by this Agreement illegal, otherwise restraining or prohibiting consummation 

of such transactions or causing any of the transactions contemplated hereunder to be 

rescinded following the completion thereof. 

  

(b)Shareholders shall have received all consents, authorizations, orders and approvals from the 

Governmental Authorities referred to in Section 3.06, and Purchaser shall have received all 

consents, authorizations, orders and approvals from the Governmental Authorities referred 

to in Section 5.02, in each case, in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to Purchaser 

and Shareholders, and no such consent, authorization, order and approval shall have been 

revoked. 
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7.02 Conditions to Obligations of Purchaser.  The obligations of Purchaser to consummate the transactions 

contemplated by this Agreement shall be subject to the fulfillment or Purchaser’s waiver, at or before 

the Closing, of each of the following conditions: 

 

(a) On the Closing Date, the representations and warranties of the Shareholders and the Corporation 

contained in this Agreement and any certificate or other writing delivered pursuant to this 

Agreement shall be true and correct in all respects as those representations and warranties 

had been made by the Shareholders and the Corporation on the Closing Date. 

  

(b)Shareholders and the Corporation shall have duly performed and complied in all material 

respects with all agreements, covenants and conditions required by this Agreement to be 

performed or complied with by them before or on the Closing Date. 

 

(c) The CSE shall have consented to the transactions contemplated hereunder and no Action shall 

have been commenced against Purchaser, Shareholders or the Corporation that would 

prevent the Closing. No injunction or restraining order shall have been issued by any 

Governmental Authority and be in effect, which restrains or prohibits any transaction 

contemplated hereby. 

 

(d)Pubco shall be a reporting issuer in good standing in the Province of British Columbia and neither 

the Purchaser nor its shares shall be the subject of any cease trade order or regulatory 

enquiry or investigation in any jurisdiction. 

 

(e) The Purchaser shall be satisfied that, upon Closing, all regulatory requirements have been or are 

capable of being satisfied, including satisfaction of the Minimum Listing Requirements of the 

CSE and any other requirement of the CSE. 

 

(f) The Amalgamation and the Listing shall have been completed. 

  

(g) Each Shareholder shall have executed and delivered the Share Restriction Agreement respecting 

the  Amalco Shares to which it is entitled hereunder.  

 

(h)Each of the Active Shareholders shall have entered into an employment agreement with the 

Corporation or the Purchaser or an Affiliate of the Purchaser, in or substantially in the form 

attached hereto as Schedule “C” (each an “Employment Agreement”). 

 

(i) Each of the Active Shareholders shall have executed and delivered to the Purchaser the 

instrument of transfer described in Section 2.03(d).  

 

(j) All approvals, consents and waivers that are listed in Section 3.06 of the Disclosure Schedules shall 

have been received and executed counterparts thereof shall have been delivered to 

Purchaser, at or before the Closing. 

  



 

34 

 

(k)From the date of this Agreement, there shall not have occurred any Material Adverse Effect, nor 

shall any event or events have occurred that, individually or in the aggregate, with or 

without the lapse of time, could reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse 

Effect. 

  

(l) Purchaser shall have received a certificate, dated the Closing Date and signed by a duly authorized 

officer of the Corporation, stating, and setting forth in reasonable detail the calculation of, 

the Closing Cash. 

 

(m) Purchaser shall have received a certificate, dated the Closing Date and signed by a duly 

authorized officer of the Corporation and each of the Shareholders, that each of the 

conditions set forth in Section 7.02(a)and 7.02(b) has been satisfied. 

  

(n)Purchaser shall have received a certificate of the Secretary (or equivalent officer) of the 

Corporation certifying that (i) attached to the certificate are true and complete copies of all 

resolutions adopted by the shareholder(s) and the board of directors the Corporation 

authorizing the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and the 

consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, and (ii) all such 

resolutions are in full force and effect and are all the resolutions adopted in connection with 

the transactions contemplated by this Agreement. 

 

(o)Purchaser shall have received a certificate of the Secretary (or equivalent officer) of the 

Corporation certifying the names and signatures of the officers of the Corporation 

authorized to sign this Agreement and the other documents to be delivered under its terms. 

 

(p)Purchaser shall have received resignations of the directors and officers of the Corporation under 

Section 6.05. 

  

(q)Purchaser shall have received a certificate of compliance (or its equivalent) for the Corporation 

from the corporate registrar with jurisdiction under the Laws in which the Corporation is 

incorporated. 

   

(r) Purchaser shall have received share certificates representing the Shares, free and clear of 

Encumbrances, duly endorsed in blank or accompanied by forms of share transfers or other 

instruments of transfer duly executed in blank. 

  

(s)Purchaser shall have received such other documents or instruments as Purchaser reasonably 

requests and are reasonably necessary to consummate the transactions contemplated by 

this Agreement. 

(t)The Corporation shall have delivered a legal opinion from counsel to the Corporation, in form and 

substance satisfactory to the Purchaser, acting reasonably.  

 

7.03 Conditions to Obligations of Shareholders. The obligations of Shareholders to consummate the 

transactions contemplated by this Agreement shall be subject to the fulfillment or Shareholders’ 
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waiver, at or before the Closing, of each of the following conditions: 

 

(a) On the Closing Date, the representations and warranties of Purchaser contained in this 

Agreement and any certificate or other writing delivered pursuant to this Agreement shall 

be true and correct in all respects as if those representations and warranties had been made 

by the Purchaser on the Closing Date. 

  

(b)Purchaser shall have duly performed and complied in all material respects with all agreements, 

covenants and conditions required by this Agreement to be performed or complied with by 

it before or on the Closing Date. 

  

(c) The Shareholders shall be satisfied with the information provided in the Listing Statement in 

respect to the Amalco Shares. 

 

(d)From the date of this Agreement, there shall not have occurred any material adverse change in 

the prospects, business, or assets of the Purchaser. 

 

(e) The Shareholders shall be satisfied that, upon Closing, all regulatory requirements have been or 

are capable of being satisfied, including satisfaction of the Minimum Listing Requirements of 

the CSE and any other requirement of the CSE. 

 

(f) The CSE shall have consented to the transactions contemplated hereunder and no Action shall 

have been commenced against Purchaser, Shareholders or the Corporation that would 

prevent the Closing. No injunction or restraining order shall have been issued by any 

Governmental Authority and be in effect, which restrains or prohibits any transaction 

contemplated hereby. 

 

(g) Pubco shall be a reporting issuer in good standing in the Province of British Columbia and neither 

the Purchaser nor its shares shall be the subject of any cease trade order or regulatory 

enquiry or investigation in any jurisdiction. 

 

(h)The Corporation or the Purchaser or an Affiliate of the Purchaser, as the case may be, shall have 

entered into an Employment Agreement with each of the Active Shareholders. 

 

(i) No injunction or restraining order shall have been issued by any Governmental Authority, and be 

in effect, which restrains or prohibits any material transaction contemplated hereby. 

 

(j) Shareholders shall have received a certificate, dated the Closing Date and signed by a duly 

authorized officer of Purchaser, that each of the conditions set forth in Section 7.02(a) and 

7.02(b) has been satisfied. 
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(k)Shareholders shall have received a certificate of the Secretary (or equivalent officer) of Purchaser 

certifying that (i) attached to the certificate are true and complete copies of all resolutions 

adopted by the board of directors of Purchaser authorizing the execution, delivery and 

performance of this Agreement and the consummation of the transactions contemplated by 

this Agreement, and (ii) all such resolutions are in full force and effect. 

  

(l) Shareholders shall have received a certificate of the Secretary (or equivalent officer) of Purchaser 

certifying the names and signatures of the officers of Purchaser authorized to sign this 

Agreement and the other documents to be delivered under its terms. 

  

(m) Purchaser shall have delivered to Shareholders certified cheques representing the Cash Portion 

to the Shareholders, as specified in Schedule B. 

  

(n)The Shareholders shall have received evidence, to the satisfaction of the Shareholders, acting 

reasonably, of the issuance of the Amalco Shares issuable hereunder. 

(o)Purchaser shall have delivered to Shareholders and the Corporation such other documents or 

instruments as Shareholders and the Corporation reasonably request and are reasonably 

necessary to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement. 

(p) Purchaser shall have delivered a legal opinion from counsel to the Purchaser, in form and 

substance satisfactory to the Shareholders, acting reasonably.  

ARTICLE VIII  
Indemnification and Remedies 

   

8.01 Survival.  Subject to the limitations and other provisions of this Agreement, the representations and 

warranties set out herein shall survive the Closing and shall remain in full force and effect until the 

date that is eighteen (18) months from the Closing Date; provided that the representations and 

warranties in: (a) Sections 3.03, 3.11, 3.13, 3.14, 3.15, 3.16, 3.17, 3.18, 3.29, 3.34, 3.35 and 3.36 shall 

survive indefinitely. All covenants and agreements of the parties set out herein shall survive the 

Closing indefinitely or for the period explicitly specified therein. Notwithstanding the foregoing, any 

claims asserted in good faith with reasonable specificity (to the extent known at such time) and in 

writing by notice from the non-breaching party to the breaching party before the expiration date of 

the applicable survival period shall not thereafter be barred by the expiration of the relevant 

representation or warranty and such claims shall survive until finally resolved or the expiry of the 

limitation period under applicable Law, whichever is sooner. 

   

8.02 Indemnification by Active Shareholders.  Subject to the other terms and conditions of this Article VIII, 

each Active Shareholder shall severally, in proportion of their respective Designated Active 

Shareholder Share, indemnify and defend Purchaser and its Representatives (collectively, the 

“Purchaser Indemnitees”) against, and shall hold each of them harmless from and against, and shall 

pay and reimburse each of them for, any and all Losses incurred or sustained by, or imposed upon, the 

Purchaser Indemnitees based upon, arising out of, with respect to or by reason of: 

 

(a) any inaccuracy in or breach of any of the representations or warranties of the Active 

Shareholders contained in Article III of this Agreement or in any certificate or instrument 

delivered by or on behalf of such Active Shareholder under this Agreement, as of the date 
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such representation or warranty was made or as if such representation or warranty was 

made on and as of the Closing Date (except for representations and warranties that 

expressly relate to a specified date, the inaccuracy in or breach of which will be determined 

with reference to such specified date);  

  

(b)any inaccuracy in or breach of any of the representations or warranties of the Shareholders 

contained in Article IV of this Agreement, as of the date such representation or warranty 

was made or as if such representation or warranty was made on and as of the Closing Date 

(except for representations and warranties that expressly relate to a specified date, the 

inaccuracy in or breach of which will be determined with reference to such specified date); 

 

(c) any breach or non-fulfillment of any covenant, agreement or obligation to be performed by a 

Shareholder under this Agreement; or  

 

(d)any Taxes (i) of the Corporation with respect to any Pre-Closing Tax Period; (ii) of an Active 

Shareholder (including, without limitation, capital gains Taxes arising as a result of the 

transactions contemplated by this Agreement) or any of his Affiliates (excluding the 

Corporation and its Subsidiaries) for any Tax period, or (iii) attributable to any breach or 

inaccuracy of any representation or warranty. 

 

8.03 Indemnification by Purchaser. Subject to the other terms and conditions of this Article VIII, Purchaser 

shall indemnify and defend each of Shareholders and its Affiliates and their respective Representatives 

(collectively, the “Shareholders Indemnitees”) against, and shall hold each of them harmless from and 

against, and shall pay and reimburse each of them for, any and all Losses incurred or sustained by, or 

imposed upon, the Shareholders Indemnitees based upon, arising out of, with respect to or by reason 

of: 

 

(a) any inaccuracy in or breach of any of the representations or warranties of Purchaser contained in 

this Agreement or in any certificate or instrument delivered by or on behalf of Purchaser 

under this Agreement, as of the date such representation or warranty was made or as if 

such representation or warranty was made on and as of the Closing Date (except for 

representations and warranties that expressly relate to a specified date, the inaccuracy in or 

breach of which will be determined with reference to such specified date); or 

  

(b)any breach or non-fulfillment of any covenant, agreement or obligation to be performed by 

Purchaser under this Agreement. 

   

8.04 Calculation of Damages.  For the purposes of calculating the amount of the Losses for the purposes of 

this Article VIII: 
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(a)  any payment recovered under any insurance policy (net of any related deductibles) shall be 

deducted from such amounts; and 

(b) the amount of any Losses for which indemnification is to be provided shall be increased to take 

account of any net tax cost incurred by the indemnified party arising from the receipt of 

indemnity payments hereunder (grossed up for such increase) and (ii) reduced to take 

account of any net tax benefit actually realized by the indemnified party arising from the 

incurrence or payment of any such Loss. 

 

8.05 Monetary and Other Limitations.  The following provisions shall apply notwithstanding anything in this 

Agreement to the contrary: 

(a) no Losses may be recovered from the Active Shareholders pursuant to Section 8.02 unless and 

until the accumulated aggregate amount of Losses of the Purchaser’s Indemnified Parties 

arising pursuant to Section 8.02 exceeds £30,000, in which event the accumulated aggregate 

amount of all such Losses in excess of £30,000 may be recovered subject to the limitations 

set out in this Section 8.05. 

 

(b) the aggregate amount of Losses that may be recovered from the Active Shareholders, pursuant 

to Section 8.02 shall not exceed 76.5% of the value of the Cash Portion. The limitations set 

out in this Section 8.05(b) shall have no application to any cliam by the Purchaser’s 

Indemnified Parties against the Active Shareholders relating to any misrepresentation or 

breach of warranty made or given by the Sharehoders which relate to the title to the Shares. 

 

(c) No Losses may be recovered from the Purchaser pursuant to Section 8.03 to the extent that the 

aggregate amount of Losses claimed by the Shareholders pursuant to such paragraph 

exceeds the value of the Purchase Price paid to the Shareholders hereunder.  Such 

limitation shall have no application to any claim by the Shareholders’ Indemnified Parties 

against the Purchaser relating to any misrepresentation or breach of warranty made or 

given by the Purchaser which relates to the incorporation of the Purchaser, the due 

authorization of this Agreement by the Purchaser and the enforceability of the obligations 

of the Purchaser under this Agreement. 

 

(d) In no event shall an Indemnifying Party be liable to an Indemnified Party for: (i) any incidental, 

consequential or special Losses in respect of a claim except to the extent that such Losses 

are reasonably foreseeable, including as to duration, as a direct consequence of the 

particular event, circumstance or matter giving rise to such claim, or (ii) any aggravated, 

exemplary or punitive damages of any nature whatsoever in respect of a claim, except to 

the extent that such Losses result from fraud or wilful misconduct on the part of the 

Indemnified Party.   

 

8.06 Indemnification Procedures.  Whenever any claim shall arise for indemnification hereunder, the party 

entitled to indemnification (the “Indemnified Party”) shall promptly provide written notice of such 

claim to the other party (the “Indemnifying Party”). In connection with any claim giving rise to 

indemnify hereunder resulting from or arising out of any Action by a person or entity who is not a 

party to this Agreement, the Indemnifying Party, at its sole cost and expense and upon written notice 
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to the Indemnified Party, may assume the defence of any such Action with counsel reasonably 

satisfactory to the Indemnified Party. The Indemnified Party shall be entitled to participate in the 

defence of any such Action with its counsel and at its own cost and expense. If the Indemnifying Party 

does not assume the defence of any such Action, the Indemnified Party may, but shall not be obligated 

to, defend against such Action in such manner as it may deem appropriate, including, but not limited 

to, settling such Action, after giving notice of it to the Indemnifying Party, on such terms as the 

Indemnified Party may deem appropriate, and no action taken by the Indemnified Party in accordance 

with such defence and settlement shall relieve the Indemnifying Party of its indemnification 

obligations herein provided with respect to damages resulting therefrom. The Indemnifying Party shall 

not settle an Action without the Indemnified Party’s prior written consent (which consent shall not be 

unreasonably withheld or delayed). 

 

8.07 Failure to Mitigate. The Indemnified Party shall take all reasonable steps to mitigate any Loss upon 

becoming aware of any event or circumstance that would be reasonably expected to, or does, give rise 

thereto, including incurring costs only to the minimum extent necessary to remedy the breach that 

gives risk to such Loss. 

  

8.08 Payments.  Once a Loss is agreed to by the Indemnifying Party or finally adjudicated to be payable under 

this Article VIII, the Indemnifying Party shall satisfy its obligations within fifteen (15) Business Days of 

such final, non-appealable adjudication by wire transfer of immediately available funds. The parties 

agree that, if the Indemnifying Party does not make full payment of any such obligations within such 

fifteen (15) Business Day period, any amount payable shall accrue interest from and including the date 

of agreement of the Indemnifying Party or final, non-appealable adjudication to but excluding the date 

such payment has been made at a rate per annum equal to 5%. Such interest shall be calculated daily 

without compounding. 

  

8.09 Tax Treatment of Indemnification Payments.  All indemnification payments made under this Agreement 

shall be treated by the parties as an adjustment to the Purchase Price for Tax purposes, unless 

otherwise required by Law. 

  

8.10 Effect of Investigation.  The representations, warranties and covenants of the Indemnifying Party, and 

the Indemnified Party’s right to indemnification with respect thereto, shall not be affected or deemed 

waived by reason of any investigation made by or on behalf of the Indemnified Party (including by any 

of its Representatives) or by reason of the fact that the Indemnified Party or any of its Representatives 

knew or should have known that any such representation or warranty is, was or might be inaccurate or 

by reason of the Indemnified Party’s waiver of any condition set forth in Section 7.02 or 7.03, as the 

case may be. 

  

8.11 Exclusive Remedies.  Subject to Section 6.08(d), the parties acknowledge and agree that their sole and 

exclusive remedy with respect to any and all claims (other than claims arising from fraud, criminal 

activity or wilful misconduct on the part of a party hereto in connection with the transactions 

contemplated by this Agreement) for any breach of any representation, warranty, covenant, 

agreement or obligation set forth herein or otherwise relating to the subject matter of this Agreement, 

shall be under the provisions set forth in this Article VIII. In furtherance of the foregoing, each party 

hereby waives, to the fullest extent permitted under Law, any and all rights, claims and causes of 
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action for any breach of any representation, warranty, covenant, agreement or obligation set forth 

herein or otherwise relating to the subject matter of this Agreement it may have against the other 

parties hereto and their Affiliates and each of their respective Representatives arising under or based 

upon any Law, except under the provisions set forth in this Article VIII. Nothing in this Section 8.11 

shall limit any Person’s right to seek and obtain any equitable relief to which any Person shall be 

entitled or to seek any remedy on account of any party’s fraudulent, criminal or wilful misconduct. 

  

 

ARTICLE IX  
Termination 

   

9.01 Termination.  This Agreement may be terminated at any time before the Closing: 

 

(a) By the mutual written consent of the Corporation, the Shareholders and the Purchaser. 

  

(b)By Purchaser by written notice to Shareholders if: 

(i) Purchaser is not then in material breach of any provision of this Agreement and there has 

been a breach, inaccuracy in or failure to perform any representation, warranty, 

covenant or agreement made by Shareholders under this Agreement that would give 

rise to the failure of any of the conditions specified in Article VII, and such breach, 

inaccuracy or failure has not been cured by Shareholders within ten (10) days of the 

Corporation’s or the Shareholders’ receipt, as the case may be, of written notice of such 

breach from Purchaser;  

(ii) any of the conditions set forth in Section 7.01 shall not have been, or if it becomes apparent 

that any of such conditions will not be, fulfilled by the Outside Date, unless such failure 

shall be due to the failure of Purchaser to perform or comply with any of the covenants, 

agreements or conditions hereof to be performed or complied with by it before the 

Closing Date; or 

(iii) any of the conditions set forth in Section 7.02 shall not have been, or if it becomes apparent 

that any of such conditions will not be, fulfilled by the Outside Date, unless such failure 

shall be due to the failure of Purchaser to perform or comply with any of the covenants, 

agreements or conditions hereof to be performed or complied with by it before the 

Closing Date. 

  

(c) By Shareholders or the Corporation by written notice to Purchaser if: 

(i) Shareholders and the Corporation are not then in material breach of any provision of this 

Agreement and there has been a breach, inaccuracy in or failure to perform any 

representation, warranty, covenant or agreement made by Purchaser under this 

Agreement that would give rise to the failure of any of the conditions specified in Article 

VII, and such breach, inaccuracy or failure has not been cured by Purchaser within ten 

(10) days of Purchaser’s receipt of written notice of such breach from Shareholders;  

(ii) any of the conditions set forth in Section 7.01 shall not have been, or if it becomes apparent 

that any of such conditions will not be, fulfilled by the Outside Date, unless such failure 

shall be due to the failure of the Corporation or the Shareholders to perform or comply 

with any of the covenants, agreements or conditions hereof to be performed or 
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complied with by it before the Closing Date; or 

(iii) any of the conditions set forth in Section 7.03 shall not have been, or if it becomes apparent 

that any of such conditions will not be, fulfilled by the Outside Date, unless such failure 

shall be due to the failure of the Corporation or the Shareholders to perform or comply 

with any of the covenants, agreements or conditions hereof to be performed or 

complied with by it before the Closing Date. 

  

(d)By Purchaser, the Corporation or the Shareholders if: 

(i) there shall be any Law that makes consummation of the transactions contemplated by this 

Agreement illegal or otherwise prohibited; or  

(ii) any Governmental Authority shall have issued a Governmental Order restraining or enjoining 

the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, and such Governmental Order shall 

have become final and non-appealable. 

9.02 Breakup Fee 

(a) In the event that this Agreement is terminated (i) by the Purchaser pursuant to 9.01(b)(i) or 

9.01(b)(iii) or (ii) the Corporation or the Shareholders other than pursuant to 9.01(c) or 

9.01(d), then the Corporation and the Shareholders shall return the Advance within five (5) 

Business Days of termination. 

 

9.03 Effect of Termination.  In the event of the termination of this Agreement in accordance with this Article 

VIII, this Agreement shall forthwith have no further force or effect and there shall be no liability on the 

part of any party hereto except: 

 

(a) as set forth in Section 5.06, Article VIII, this Article IX, and Article X; and 

  

(b)that nothing herein shall relieve any party from liability for any wilful breach of any provision in 

this Agreement. 

  

ARTICLE X  
Miscellaneous 

    

10.01 Expenses.  Except as otherwise expressly provided herein, all costs and expenses incurred in connection 

with this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby shall be paid by the party incurring 

such costs and expenses, whether or not the Closing shall have occurred. Notwitstanding any other 

provision of this Agreement, the Purchaser shall not be entitled to recover any of the expenses 

incurred by it in order to complete an audit of the Corporation’s financial operations and financial 

statements.  

  

10.02 Notices.  All notices, requests, consents, claims, demands, waivers and other communications 

hereunder shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have been given: (a) when delivered by hand 

(with written confirmation of receipt); (b) when received by the addressee if sent by a nationally 

recognized overnight courier (receipt requested); or (c) on the date sent by email of a PDF document 

(with confirmation of transmission) if sent during normal business hours of the recipient, and on the 
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next Business Day if sent after normal business hours of the recipient. Such communications must be 

sent to the respective parties at the following addresses (or at such other address for a party as shall 

be specified in a notice given in accordance with this Section 10.02): 

  

If to Shareholders: 

 

C/O  Paul Petrie 

 

 

  

 

Email: 

 

  

 

  

 

Attention: Paul Petrie 

 

 

 

If to Corporation: 

 

58 Long Lane 

Broughty Ferry 

Dundee, Scotland, DD5 1HH 

 

  

 

Email:  

 

 

 

  

 

Attention: Paul Petrie 

 

 

 

If to Purchaser: 

 

FansUnite Entertainment Inc. 

#205 – 1008 Homer Street,  

Vancouver, British Columbia 

V5B 2X1 

 

  

 

Email:  

 

 

 

  

 

Attention: Duncan McIntyre 

 

 

 

 

10.03 Interpretation. For purposes of this Agreement: (a) the words “include,” “includes” and “including” shall 

be deemed to be followed by the words “without limitation”; (b) the word “or” is not exclusive; and (c) 

the words “herein,” “hereof,” “hereby,” “hereto” and “hereunder” refer to this Agreement as a whole. 

This Agreement shall be construed without regard to any presumption or rule requiring construction 

or interpretation against the party drafting an instrument or causing any instrument to be drafted. The 

Schedules and Exhibits referred to herein shall be construed with, and as an integral part of, this 

Agreement to the same extent as if they were set forth verbatim herein.  

  

10.04 Headings.  The headings in this Agreement are for reference only and shall not affect the interpretation 

of this Agreement. 

  

10.05 Severability.  If any term or provision of this Agreement is invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any 

jurisdiction, such invalidity, illegality or unenforceability shall not affect any other term or provision of 

this Agreement or invalidate or render unenforceable such term or provision in any other jurisdiction. 

  

10.06 Entire Agreement.  This Agreement constitutes the sole and entire agreement of the parties to this 

Agreement with respect to the Agreement’s subject matter contained and supersedes all prior and 
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contemporaneous understandings and agreements, both written and oral, with respect to that subject 

matter. In the event of any inconsistency between the statements in the body of this Agreement, the 

Schedules and Disclosure Schedules, the statements in the body of this Agreement will govern. 

  

10.07 Successors and Assigns.  This Agreement shall be binding upon and shall enure to the benefit of the 

parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns. Neither party may assign its 

rights or obligations hereunder without the prior written consent of the other party, which consent 

shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed; provided that, before the Closing Date, Purchaser may, 

without the prior written consent of Shareholders, assign all or any portion of its rights under this 

Agreement to one or more of its direct or indirect wholly owned subsidiaries. No assignment shall 

relieve the assigning party of any of its obligations hereunder. The parties agree and acknowledge that 

the transactions referenced in Article 2 of this Agreement, including section 2.11 thereof, shall not 

constitute an assignment in breach of this section. 

  

10.08 No Third-Party Beneficiaries.  Except as provided in Article VIII, this Agreement is for the sole benefit of 

the parties and their respective successors and permitted assigns and nothing herein, express or 

implied, is intended to or shall confer upon any other Person or entity any legal or equitable right, 

benefit or remedy of any nature whatsoever under or by reason of this Agreement. 

  

10.09 Amendment and Modification; Waiver.  This Agreement may only be amended, modified or 

supplemented by an agreement in writing signed by each party hereto. No waiver by any party of any 

provisions shall be effective unless explicitly set forth in writing and signed by the waiving party. No 

failure to exercise, or delay in exercising, any right, remedy, power or privilege arising from this 

Agreement shall operate or be construed as a waiver thereof; nor shall any single or partial exercise of 

any right, remedy, power or privilege hereunder preclude any other or further exercise thereof or the 

exercise of any other right, remedy, power or privilege. 

  

10.10 Governing Law; Forum; Choice of Language 

(a) This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the Laws of the province 

of British Columbia and the federal Laws of Canada applicable therein. 

 

(b)Any Action arising out of or based upon this Agreement or the transactions contemplated by it 

may be brought in the courts of British Columbia, and each party irrevocably submits and 

agrees to attorn to the exclusive jurisdiction of that court in any such Action. The parties 

irrevocably and unconditionally waive any objection to the venue of any Action or 

proceeding in that court and irrevocably waive and agree not to plead or claim in that court 

that such Action has been brought in an inconvenient forum. 

  

10.11 Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed in counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an 

original, but all of which together shall be deemed to be one and the same agreement. A signed copy 

of this Agreement delivered by means of electronic transmission shall be deemed an original. 

 

[Signature Page Follows] 
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[Signature Page to Share Purchase Agreement] 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be executed as of the date first 

written above by their respective officers thereunto duly authorized. 

  

 

  

 

  

 

MCBOOKIE LIMITED 

 

 

_____________________________ 

Authorized Representative 

 

 

 

 

FANSUNITE ENTERTAINMENT INC. 

 

 

 

_ __________ 

Authorized Representative 

 

 

 

  PAUL PETRIE 

Name of Witness    

  

  

  

Signature of Witness  Signature of Shareholder 

 

   

   

Paul Petrie 

  DAMIAN WALKER 

Name of Witness    

  

  

  

Signature of Witness  Signature of Shareholder 
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 PETER JONES 

Name of Witness    

  

  

  

Signature of Witness  Signature of Shareholder 

 

 

  ROSS BAR 

Name of Witness    

   

  

  

Signature of Witness  Signature of Shareholder 

 

 

  ELIZABETH JONES 

Name of Witness    

   

  

  

Signature of Witness  Signature of Shareholder 

 

 

  KENNY LOGAN  

Name of Witness    

   

  

  

Signature of Witness  Signature of Shareholder 

 



 

 

SCHEDULE A 

 

DEFINITIONS 

 

The following definitions apply to this Agreement: 

  

“Accounts Receivable” means all trade and other receivables of the Corporation as of the Calculation Time, 

determined on a gross basis in accordance with UK GAAP, excluding: (a) Related Party Receivables; and (b) 

receivables due or unpaid more than 60 days after the original due date or 90 days after the original invoice 

date. 

 

“Action” means any claim, action, cause of action, demand, lawsuit, arbitration, inquiry, audit, notice of 

violation, proceeding, litigation, citation, summons, subpoena, notice of assessment, notice or reassessment or 

investigation of any nature, civil, criminal, administrative, investigative, regulatory or otherwise, whether at law 

or in equity.  

 

“Active Shareholder” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.03. 

 

“Advance” means the ten thousand pounds (£10,000) advanced to the Corporation by the Purchaser on March 

15, 2019, and is not refundable to the Purchaser by the Corporation. 

 

“Adverse Interests” means any lien, charge, mortgage, hypothec, pledge, assignment, option, lease, sublease, 

right to possession, or other security interest, encumbrance or adverse right, restriction or interest of any nature 

or kind. 

 

“Affiliate” when used to indicate a relationship with a specified Person, means a Person that directly, or 

indirectly through one or more intermediaries, controls, or is controlled by, or is under common control with, 

such specified Person and a Person shall be deemed to be controlled by another Person if controlled in any 

manner whatsoever that results in control in fact by that other Person (or that other Person and any Person or 

Persons with whom that other Person is acting jointly or in concert), whether directly or indirectly. For the 

purposes of this definition, “control”, when used with respect to any specified Person, means the power to 

direct the management and policies of that Person directly or indirectly, whether through ownership of 

securities, by trust, by contract or otherwise; and the term “controlled” has a corresponding meaning; provided 
that, in any event, any Person that owns directly, indirectly or beneficially 50% or more of the securities having 

voting power for the election of directors or other governing body of a corporation or 50% or more of the 

partnership interests or other ownership interests of any other Person will be deemed to control that Person. 

 

“Agreement” has the meaning set forth in the preamble. 

  

“Annual Royalty” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.04. 

 

“Anti-Money Laundering” Laws has the meaning set forth in Section 3.34(a). 

 

“Articles” means the original or restated articles of incorporation, articles of constitution, or any other 

instrument by which a corporation is incorporated or exists. 

 

“Assessment” has the meaning set forth in Section 6.11(e). 

 

“Assets” means all of the assets, real and personal, tangible and intangible of the Corporation including without 
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limitation: 

1. The website located at http://www.McBookie.com and any other websites or domains associated with the 

Business, and any associated domains or subdomains thereof and all of their respective content;  

2. the Corporation’s rights under the Software License; and 

3. The database of all users and visitors of the Website. 

 

“Balance Sheet” has the meaning set forth in the definition of “Financial Statements” in this Schedule A. 

 

“Balance Sheet Date” has the meaning set forth in the definition of “Financial Statements” in this Schedule A. 

  

“BCBCA” means the Business Corporations Act (British Columbia). 

 

“Benefit Plan” means all employee benefit plans, agreements, policies, practices, and arrangements (whether 

oral or written, formal or informal, funded or unfunded) maintained for, available to or otherwise relating to any 

employees, directors or officers or former employees, directors or officers of the Corporation, or any spouses, 

dependents or survivors of any employee or former employee of the Corporation, or in respect of which the 

Corporation is a party to or bound by or is obligated to contribute or in any way liable, whether or not insured or 

whether or not subject to any Law, except that the term “Benefit Plans” shall not include any statutory plans 

with which the Corporation is required to comply. 

 

“Books and Records” means, regardless of the form or method of storage: (a) all of the Corporation’s 

accounting and other financial data and information; (b) the Corporation’s corporate records; (c) all sales and 

purchase records, lists of suppliers and customers, credit and pricing information, business, engineering and 

consulting reports and research and development information of, or relating to, the Corporation or the Business; 

and (d) all other books, documents, files, and information, financial or otherwise, that are in the possession or 

under the control of the Corporation, Shareholders or their Affiliate.  

 

“Business” means the operation of the McBookie gaming and betting business and provision of gaming and 

betting products and services by the Corporation primarily through the Website. 

 

“Business Day” means any day except Saturday, Sunday or any other day on which banks located in Vancouver, 

British Columbia, are authorized or required by Law to be closed for business. 

 

“Calculation Time” means 11:59 p.m. Vancouver time on the day immediately preceding the Closing Date. 

  

“Cash Portion” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.02(a) 

 

“Closing” has the meaning set forth in Section 0. 

 

“Closing Cash” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.02(a) 

 

“Closing Date” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.15. 

 

“Closing Date Tax Year” has the meaning set forth in Section 6.11(b). 

 

“Confidential Information” includes all information of any nature and in any form which at the time or times 

concerned is not generally known to the public, other than by act or acts of an employee not authorized by the 

Corporation to disclose such information, and which relates to any one or more of the aspects of the 

Corporation, the Business, or any of the Corporation’s predecessors, including, but not limited to, Source Code, 

Documentation, sensitive data, Personal Information, Software, patents and patent applications, inventions and 
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improvements, whether patentable or not, development projects, policies, processes, formulas, techniques, 

know-how and other facts relating to sales, advertising, franchising, promotions, financial matters, customers, 

customer lists, customer purchases or requirements, licenses or trade secrets. 

 

“Contracts” means all contracts, leases, deeds, mortgages, licences, instruments, notes, commitments, 

undertakings, indentures, joint ventures and all other agreements, commitments and legally binding 

arrangements, whether written or oral. 

 

“Controlled Technology” means any hardware, software, documentation, technology or other technical data, or 

any products that include or use any of the foregoing, the export, re-export or release of which to certain 

jurisdictions or countries is prohibited or requires an export license or other governmental approval, under any 

Law; 

 

“Corporation” has the meaning set forth in the recitals. 

 

“Corporation-Derived EBITDA” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.04. 

 

“CSE” means the Canadian Securities Exchange. 

 

“Current Liabilities” means the consolidated trade and other payables, accrued Taxes and other accrued charges 

of the Corporation, determined in accordance with UK GAAP consistently applied, but does not include: (a) 

income Taxes payable; (b) accrued provisions; (c) deferred Tax liabilities; and (d) the current portion of long term 

debt, determined in accordance with UK GAAP. 

 

“Data Protection Legislation” means the GDPR (as applicable) and any other relevant Laws relating to the 

protection of personal data and the privacy of individuals (all as amended, updated or re-enacted from time to 

time).  

 

“Designated Active Shareholder Share” means, in respect to an Active Shareholder, the proportion that the 

number of Shares to be sold by such Active Shareholder bears to the sum of the total number of Shares to be 

sold by all Active Shareholders. 

 

“Disclosure Documents” means (i) the Listing Statement and (ii) the Prospectus. 

 

“Disclosure Schedules” means the schedules attached to this Agreement delivered by Shareholders to 

Purchaser concurrently with the execution and delivery of this Agreement. 

 

“Documentation” means all documentation (whether in human or machine readable form) describing or 

relating to the McBookie Platform, including each of the following: operating, installation, administrator, and 

user manuals and training materials; technical, functional, service level, and other requirements and 

specifications; file and record layouts and fields; schematics; flow charts; algorithms; architectural diagrams; 

data models; build instructions; compilation instructions; testing and configuration documentation; developer 

annotations, programming notes, and technical data; programming, hardware, system, network design and 

configuration documentation; and any other documents describing or relating to the creation, design, 

development, installation, implementation, execution, structure, function, performance, correction, 

modification, improvement, or use of the McBookie Platform or McBookie Platform’s operating environment, 

and all updates, upgrades, corrections, modifications, translations, releases, versions, derivative works and 

improvements of each of the foregoing. 

 

“Employees” means those individuals employed by the Corporation on the date of this Agreement. 
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“Encumbrances” means any encumbrance or restriction of any kind or nature whatsoever and howsoever 

arising (whether registered or unregistered) and includes without limitation any lien, charge, security interest, 

hypothec, or option. 

 

“Employment Agreement” has the meaning set forth in Section 7.02(h); 

 

“Final Prospectus” means the (final) prospectus of Purchaser, prepared in accordance with NI 41-101. 

 

“Financial Statements” means collectively the audited financial statements of the Corporation for the financial 

periods ended (i) December 31, 2016, (ii) December 31, 2017, and (iii) December 31, 2018, inclusive (the most 

recent of which is herein the “Balance Sheet Date”) each consisting of a balance sheet (the most recent of which 

is herein the “Balance Sheet”), statement of earnings (loss) and retained earnings, statement of cash flows and 

the related notes thereto. 

 

 

“GDPR” means the General Data Protection Regulation (EU) 2016/679. 

 

“Governmental Authority” means: (a) any court, tribunal, judicial body or arbitrator; (b) any domestic or foreign 

government or supranational body or authority whether multinational, national, federal, provincial, territorial, 

state, municipal or local and any governmental agency, governmental authority, governmental body, 

governmental bureau, governmental department, governmental tribunal or governmental commission of any 

kind whatsoever; (c) any subdivision or authority of any of the foregoing; (d) any quasi-governmental or private 

body or public body exercising any regulatory, administrative, expropriation or taxing authority under or for the 

account of the foregoing; (e) any stock or securities exchange, including the CSE; and (f) any public utility 

authority. 

 

“Governmental Order” means any order, writ, judgment, injunction, decree, stipulation, determination, award, 

decision, sanction or ruling entered by or with any Governmental Authority. 

 

“Indemnified Party” has the meaning set forth in Section 8.06. 

 

“Indemnifying Party” has the meaning set forth in Section 8.06. 

 

“Independent Contractor” means: (a) any individual contracted to perform work or provide services to the 

Corporation who is not, or was not (with respect to former Independent Contractors), an employee, officer or 

director of the Corporation, or any such individual’s personal services company. 

 

 

“Insurance Policies” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.24(a). 

 

“Intellectual Property” means all intellectual property and industrial property rights and assets, and all rights, 

interests and protections that are associated with, similar to, or required for the exercise of, any of the 

foregoing, however arising, under the Laws of any jurisdiction throughout the world, whether registered or 

unregistered, including any and all: (a) Marks, trade-marks, trade names, brand names, logos, design rights, 

together with the goodwill connected with the use of and symbolized by, and all registrations, applications and 

renewals for, any of the foregoing; (b) all business names, corporate names, telephone numbers and other 

communication addresses owned or used by the Corporation; (c) internet domain names, whether or not 

trade-marks, registered in any top-level domain by any authorized private registrar or Governmental Authority, 

web addresses, web pages, websites and related content, accounts with Twitter®, Facebook® and other social 
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media companies and the content found thereon and related thereto, and URLs; (d) works of authorship, 

expressions, designs and design registrations, whether or not copyrightable, including copyrights, author, 

performer and moral rights, and all registrations, applications for registration and renewals of such copyrights; 

(e) all industrial designs and applications for registration of industrial designs and industrial design rights owned 

or used by the Corporation; (f) inventions, discoveries, trade secrets, business and technical information and 

know-how, databases, and other confidential and proprietary information and all rights therein; (g) patents 

(including all patent registrations, reissues, divisional applications or analogous rights, continuations and 

continuations-in-part, re-examinations, renewals, substitutions and extensions thereof), patent applications and 

other patent rights and any other Governmental Authority issued indicia of invention ownership (including 

inventor’s certificates and patent utility models); (h) intellectual property used in connection with the Business; 

and (i) and all income and proceeds relating to any of the foregoing accruing as of the Closing Date and all rights 

to damages and profits by reason of the infringement of any of the foregoing. 

 

“Interim Balance Sheet” has the meaning set forth in the definition of “Interim Financial Statements” in this 

Schedule A. 

 

“Interim Balance Sheet Date” has the meaning set forth in the definition of “Interim Financial Statements” in 

this Schedule A. 

 

“Interim Financial Statements” means the unaudited interim financial statements of the Corporation for the 

portion of the fiscal year ended September 30, 2018 (the “Interim Balance Sheet Date”), consisting of a balance 

sheet (the “Interim Balance Sheet”), statement of earnings (loss) and retained earnings and statement of cash 

flows. 

 

“Interim Period” means the period of time from and including the date of this Agreement to the Closing Time. 

 

“IP Registrations” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.13(a). 

 

“Law” means any statute, law, ordinance, regulation, rule, instrument, code, order, constitution, treaty, 

common law, judgment, decree, other requirement or rule of law of any Governmental Authority.  

 

“Liabilities” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.08. 

 

“Listing” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.11(e) 

 

“Listing Statement” means the listing statement of Purchaser pertaining to the listing of the Purchaser’s 

common shares on the CSE, in the form prescribed by the CSE. 

 

“Losses” means losses, damages, liabilities, deficiencies, Actions, judgments, interest, awards, penalties, fines, 

costs or expenses of whatever kind, including legal fees, disbursements and charges on a solicitor-client basis 

and the cost of enforcing any right to indemnification hereunder and the cost of pursuing any insurance 

providers; provided that “Losses” shall not include punitive or exemplary damages, except in the case of fraud or 

to the extent actually awarded to a Governmental Authority or other third party. 

 

“Marks” means any registered and unregistered trademarks, (including without limitation the trademarks 

relating to the name “McBookie”), trade or brand names, service marks, applications and slogans. 

 

“Material Adverse Effect” means any event, occurrence, fact, condition or change that is, or could reasonably 

be expected to become, individually or in the aggregate, materially adverse to: (a) the Business or Assets of the 

Corporation; or (b) the parties’ ability to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby on a timely basis. 
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“Material Contracts” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.10(a). 

 

“Material Suppliers” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.23. 

   

“McBookie Platform” means the Website and Software including all associated features, through which the 

Corporation provides the services relating to the Business, including all Software relating to user interface; 

applications; text; pictures; sounds; graphics; video; data and other materials; as crated or modified  by the 

Corporation. 

 

“Non-Active Shareholder” has the meaning set forth in Section 1.02(b). 

 

“Open Source Components” means any software component that is subject to any open-source copyright 

license agreement, including any GNU General Public License or GNU Library or Lesser Public License, or other 

obligation, restriction or license agreement that substantially conforms to the Open Source Definition as 

prescribed by the Open Source Initiative or otherwise may require disclosure or licensing to any third party of 

any source code with which such software component is used or compiled. 

 

“Ordinary Course”, when used in relation to the conduct of the Business, means any transaction that constitutes 

an ordinary day-to-day business activity of the Corporation conducted in a manner consistent with the 

Corporation’s past practice. 

 

“Outside Date” means December 31, 2019. 

 

“Parties” has the meaning set forth on the cover page hereto. 

 

“Permits” means all permits, licences, franchises, approvals, authorizations, registrations, certificates, variances 

and similar rights obtained, or required to be obtained, from Governmental Authorities for the Corporation to 

operate its Business in a lawful and compliant manner. 

 

“Permitted Encumbrances” means (a) statutory Encumbrances for current Taxes, special assessments or other 

governmental charges not yet due and payable; (b) statutory liens and deposits or pledges made in connection 

with, or to secure payment required by any Governmental Authority under applicable Law. 

 

“Person” means an individual, corporation, company, limited liability company, body corporate, partnership, 

joint venture, Governmental Authority, unincorporated organization, trust, association or other entity. 

 

“Personal Information” means any information in the possession, custody or control of the Corporation or its 

Subsidiaries, as the case may be, about an identifiable individual, but does not include the name, title or 

business address or telephone number of an employee of the Corporation, and for greater certainty includes all 

such information which falls within the definition of “personal information” in any personal information 

protection Law to which Corporation or a Subsidiaries, as the case may be, is subject. 

 

“Pound Sterling” or “£” mean the lawful currency of the United Kingdom. 

 

“Pre-Closing Tax Periods” shall mean any Tax Period ending before the Closing and any pre-Closing portion of a 

Straddle Period. 

 

“Preliminary Receipt” means the receipt issued by the Principal Regulator, evidencing that a receipt has been, 

or has been deemed to be, issued for the Preliminary Prospectus in British Columbia 
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“Preliminary Prospectus” means the receipt issued by the Principal Regulator, evidencing that a receipt has 

been, or has been deemed to be, issued for the Preliminary Prospectus in British Columbia. 

 

“Principal Regulator” means the British Columbia Securities Commission. 

 

“Privacy Law” means any Law that governs the receipt, collection, compilation, use, storage, processing, sharing, 

safeguarding, security, disposal, destruction, disclosure or transfer of Personal Information or User Data and any 

such Law governing data or security breach notification, any penalties and compliance with any order, including 

without limitation the Data Protection Legislation. 

 

“Pro Rata Share” means, in respect of a Shareholder, the proportion that the number of Shares to be sold by 

such Shareolder bears to the total number of Shares to be sold by all the Shareholders. 

 

“Prospectus” means, collectively, the Preliminary Prospectus and the Final Prospectus (including any 

Supplementary Material thereto). 

 

“Purchase Price” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.01. 

 

“Purchaser” has the meaning set forth in the preamble. 

  

“Purchaser Shares” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.02(b). 

 

“Purchaser Indemnitees” has the meaning set forth in Section 8.02. 

 

“Related Party” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.30. 

 

“Related Party Debt” means all Liabilities owed by the Corporation to Shareholders or any other Related Party. 

 

“Related Party Receivables” means any receivable owing to the Corporation by Shareholders or any other 

Related Party. 

 

“Related Person” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.30 

 

“Release” means any actual or threatened release, spilling, leaking, pumping, pouring, emitting, emptying, 

discharging, injecting, escaping, leaching, dumping, abandonment, disposing or allowing to escape or migrate of 

any Hazardous Substance into or through the Environment or as defined in any Environmental Law. 

 

“Representative” means, with respect to any Person, any and all directors, officers, employees, consultants, 

financial advisors, lawyers, accountants and other agents of such Person. 

 

“Repurchased Shares” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.03(a). 

 

“Restricted Period” has the meaning set forth in Section 6.08. 

 

“Sale” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.09 

 

“SEDAR” means the System for Electronic Document Analysis and Retrieval of the Canadian Securities 

Administrators. 
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“Share Restriction Agreement” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.02(b). 

 

“Shares” means the 6,000 common shares in the capital of the Corporation. 

 

“Shareholders” has the meaning set forth in the preamble. 

 

“Shareholders Indemnitees” has the meaning set forth in Section 8.03. 

 

“Software” means  the software Source Code and object code and all databases, files, application 

programming interfaces and other components of and works embodied in the software (including any audio or 

visual content or screen displays in the user interface), and all updates, upgrades, corrections, modifications, 

translations, releases, versions, and derivative works and improvements of each of the foregoing.  

 

“Software License” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.14(a). 

 

“Source Code” means the human readable source code of the software to which it relates, in the programming 

language in which the software was written, together with all related flow charts and technical documentation, 

including a description of the procedure for generating object code, all of a level sufficient to enable a 

programmer reasonably fluent in such programming language to understand, build, operate, support, maintain 

and develop modifications, upgrades, updates, adaptations, enhancements, new versions and other derivative 

works and improvements of, and to develop computer programs compatible with, the software. 

 

“Subsidiary” means any subsidiary of the Corporation. 

 

“Supplementary Material” means, collectively, any amendment to the Preliminary Prospectus or the Final 

Prospectus, and any amendment or supplemental prospectus or ancillary materials that may be filed by or on 

behalf of Purchaser under Applicable Securities Law relating to the Listing. 

 

“Tax” or “Taxes” means all taxes, surtaxes, duties, levies, imposts, fees, assessments, reassessments, 

withholdings, dues and other charges of any nature, imposed or collected by any Governmental Authority, 

whether disputed or not. 

 

“Tax Period” means any period prescribed by any Governmental Authority for which a Tax Return is required to 

be filed or Tax is required to be paid. 

 

“Tax Return” means all reports, returns, information returns, claims for refunds, elections, designations, 

estimates, reports and other documents, including any schedule or attachments thereto, filed or required to be 

filed or supplied to any Governmental Authority in respect of Taxes and including any amendment thereof or 

attachment thereto. 

 

“Territory” means worldwide. 

 

“Triggering Event” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.03(f). 

 

“UK GAAP” means generally accepted accounting principles as determined by the whole body of UK 

authoritative accounting literature. 

  

“Underlying Software” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.14(c)2.03(f). 

 

“User Data” means any Personal Information or other data or information collected by or on behalf of the 
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Corporation from any third-party user of its products or services. 

 



 

SCHEDULE B 

 

SHAREHOLDERS BREAKDOWN 

 

Name and Address 

of Shareholder 

Number of Shares 

Held 

Cash Consideration 

Allocation 

Share 

Consideration 

Allocation 

Pro Rata Annual 

Royalty Allocation 

(%) 

Paul Petrie 2295 38.25% 38.25% 50% 

Damian Walker 2295 38.25% 38.25% 50% 

Peter Jones 525 8.75% 8.75% N/A 

Ross Barr 495 8.25% 8.25% N/A 

Elizabeth Jones 300 5% 5% N/A 

Kenny Logan 90 1.5% 1.5% N/A 

 

 

 

  



 

SCHEDULE C 

 

FORM OF EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT 

 

See attached 

 



 

 

EMPLOYMENT CONTRACT 

between 

 MCBOOKIE LTD 

and 

[EMPLOYEE] 
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Parties 

(1) McBookie Ltd incorporated and registered in Scotland with company number SC345491 
whose registered office is at 58 Long Lane, Broughty Ferry, Dundee DD5 1HH 
(Company / we / us)  

(2) [YOUR NAME] of [ADDRESS]  (Employee / you)  

Agreed terms 

1. Interpretation 

1.1 The definitions and rules of interpretation in this clause 1 apply in this agreement. 

 Appointment: your employment by us on the terms of this agreement. 

 Associated Employer: has the meaning given to it in the Employment Rights Act 1996. 

 Board: the board of directors of the Company (including any committee of the board 
duly appointed by it). 

 Business Day: a day, other than a Saturday or Sunday, when banks in [Edinburgh] are 
open for business. 

 Capacity: as agent, consultant, director, employee, worker, owner, partner or 
shareholder.  

 Commencement Date: Closing Date, as defined in the Share Purchase Agreement.   

 Confidential Information: information (whether or not recorded in documentary form, or 
stored on any magnetic or optical disk or memory) relating to any Group Company's 
business, products, affairs and finances for the time being confidential to any Group 
Company and trade secrets including, without limitation, technical data and know-how 
relating to any Group Company's business or any of its business contacts. 

 Employment Inventions: any Invention which is made wholly or partially by you at any 
time during the course of your employment with us (whether or not during working hours 
or using our premises or resources, and whether or not recorded in material form). 

 Employment IPRs: Intellectual Property Rights created by you in the course of your 
employment with us (whether or not during working hours or using our premises or 
resources). 

 Garden Leave: any period during which we have exercised our rights under clause 16. 

 Group Company: the Company, its Subsidiaries or Holding Companies from time to 
time and any Subsidiary of any Holding Company from time to time. 

 Incapacity: any sickness, injury or other medical disorder or condition which prevents 
you from carrying out your duties. 
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 Intellectual Property Rights: patents, rights to Inventions, copyright and related rights, 
trade marks, trade names and domain names, rights in get-up, goodwill and the right to 
sue for passing off, unfair competition rights, rights in designs, rights in computer 
software, database rights, topography rights, rights to use and preserve the 
confidentiality of information (including know-how and trade secrets) and any other 
intellectual property rights, in each case whether registered or unregistered and 
including all applications (or rights to apply) for and rights to be granted, renewals or 
extensions of, and rights to claim priority from, such rights and all similar or equivalent 
rights or forms of protection which subsist or will subsist now or in the future in any part 
of the world. 

 Invention: any invention, idea, discovery, development, improvement or innovation, 
whether or not patentable or capable of registration, and whether or not recorded in any 
medium. 

 Restricted Business: those parts of any Group Company's business with which you 
were involved to a material extent in the twelve months before Termination. 

 Restricted Customer: any firm, company or person who, during the twelve months 
before Termination, was a customer or prospective customer of or in the habit of dealing 
with any Group Company with whom you had contact or about whom you became aware 
or informed in the course of your employment. 

 SSP: statutory sick pay. 

 Staff Handbook: our staff handbook as amended from time to time. 

 Subsidiary and Holding Company: in relation to a company mean "subsidiary" and 
"holding company" as defined in section 1159 of the Companies Act 2006. 

 Termination: the termination of your employment with us howsoever caused. 

1.2 The headings in this agreement are inserted for convenience only and shall not affect its 
construction. 

1.3 A reference to a particular law is a reference to it as it is in force for the time being taking 
account of any amendment, extension, or re-enactment and includes any subordinate 
legislation for the time being in force made under it. 

1.4 Unless the context otherwise requires, words in the singular include the plural and in the 
plural include the singular. 

2. Term of appointment 

2.1 The Appointment shall commence on the Commencement Date and, subject to the 
remaining terms of this agreement, shall expire no earlier than one year after the 
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Commencement Date (Expiry Date), unless terminated earlier by the Company in 
accordance with clause 2.2 or the remaining terms of this agreement.  

2.2 The Appointment shall continue after the Expiry Date, subject to the remaining terms of 
this agreement, until terminated by: 

(a) You giving the Company not less than six months’ prior notice in writing; or 

(b) The Company giving you not less than three months' prior notice in writing. 

2.3 Your previous employment with the Company, which commenced on [DATE] counts 
towards your period of continuous employment with us. 

2.4 You consent to the transfer of your employment under this agreement to an Associated 
Employer at any time during the Appointment. 

3. Your warranties 

3.1 You represent and warrant to us that, by entering into this agreement or performing any 
of your obligations under it, you will not be in breach of any court order or any express or 
implied terms of any contract or other obligation binding on you and undertake to 
indemnify us against any claims, costs, damages, liabilities or expenses which we may 
incur as a result if you are in breach of any such obligations. 

3.2 You warrant that you are entitled to work in the United Kingdom without any additional 
approvals and will notify us immediately if you cease to be so entitled during the 
Appointment. 

4. Duties 

4.1 You shall serve us as Managing Director or such other role as we consider appropriate. 

4.2 During the Appointment you shall: 

(a) unless prevented by Incapacity, devote the whole of your time, attention and 
abilities to our business and the business of any Group Company of which you 
are an officer or consultant; 

(b) diligently exercise such powers and perform such duties as we may from time to 
time assign to you together with such person or persons as we may appoint to 
act jointly with you; 

(c) comply with all reasonable and lawful directions given to you by us; 

(d) promptly make such reports to the Board in connection with any Group 
Company's affairs on such matters and at such times as are reasonably 
required; 
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(e) report your own wrongdoing and any wrongdoing or proposed wrongdoing of 
any other employee or director of any Group Company to the Board 
immediately on becoming aware of it; and 

(f) use your best endeavours to promote, protect, develop and extend our business 
and the business of any Group Company. 

4.3 You shall comply with our anti-corruption and bribery policy and related procedures at all 
times. 

4.4 We take a zero-tolerance approach to tax evasion. You must not engage in any form of 
facilitating tax evasion, whether under UK law or under the law of any foreign country. 
You must immediately report to the Board any request or demand from a third party to 
facilitate the evasion of tax or any concerns that such a request or demand may have 
been made.  

4.5 You shall comply with any rules, policies and procedures set out in the Staff Handbook, 
a copy of which is available from the Chief Financial Officer. The Staff Handbook does 
not form part of this agreement and we may amend it at any time. To the extent that 
there is any conflict between the terms of this agreement and the Staff Handbook, this 
agreement shall prevail. 

4.6 All documents, manuals, hardware and software provided for your use by us, and any 
data or documents (including copies) produced, maintained or stored on our computer 
systems or other electronic equipment (including mobile phones), remain our property. 

5. Place of work 

5.1 Your normal place of work is our premises at 58 Long Lane, Broughty Ferry, Dundee 
DD5 1HH or such other place within East Scotland which we may reasonably require for 
the proper performance and exercise of your duties. 

5.2 You agree to travel on any Group Company's business (both within the United Kingdom 
or abroad) as may be required for the proper performance of your duties under the 
Appointment. 

5.3 [During the Appointment you shall not be required to work outside the United Kingdom 
for any continuous period of more than one month.] 

6. Hours of work  

Your normal working hours shall be 9am to 5pm on Mondays to Fridays and such 
additional hours as are necessary for the proper performance of your duties. You 
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acknowledge that you shall not receive further remuneration in respect of such additional 
hours. 

7. Salary 

7.1 You shall be paid an initial salary of £82,000 per annum. 

7.2 Your salary shall accrue from day to day at a rate of 1/365 of your annual salary and be 
payable monthly in arrears on or about the 20th  of each month directly into your bank or 
building society. 

7.3 Your salary shall be reviewed by the Board annually, the first such review to take place 
one year from the commencement date]. We are under no obligation to award an 
increase following a salary review. There will be no review of the salary after notice has 
been given by either party to terminate the Appointment. 

7.4 We may deduct from your salary, or any other sums owed to you, any money owed to 
any Group Company by you. 

8. Expenses 

8.1 We shall reimburse (or procure the reimbursement of) all reasonable expenses wholly, 
properly and necessarily incurred by you in the course of the Appointment, subject to 
production of VAT receipts or other appropriate evidence of payment. 

8.2 You shall abide by our policies on expenses as communicated to you from time to time. 

8.3 Any credit card supplied to you by us shall be used only for expenses incurred by you in 
the course of the Appointment. 

9. Holidays 

9.1 Our holiday year runs between [1 January] and [31 December]. If the Appointment 
commences or terminates part way through a holiday year, your entitlement during that 
holiday year shall be calculated on a pro-rata basis rounded up to the nearest half day. 

9.2 You shall be entitled to 28 days' paid holiday in each holiday year which shall include the 
usual bank and local holidays, or days in lieu where we require you to work on a bank or 
local holiday.  

9.3 Holiday shall be taken at such time or times as shall be approved in advance by the 
Board. You shall not carry forward any accrued but untaken holiday entitlement to a 
subsequent holiday year unless you have been prevented from taking it in the relevant 
holiday year by one of the following: a period of sickness absence or statutory maternity 
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leave, paternity, adoption, parental or shared parental leave. In cases of sickness 
absence, carry-over is limited to four weeks' holiday per year less any leave taken during 
the holiday year that has just ended. Any such carried over holiday which is not taken 
within eighteen months of the end of the relevant holiday year will be lost. 

9.4 You shall have no entitlement to any payment in lieu of accrued but untaken holiday 
except on termination of the Appointment. The amount of such payment in lieu shall be 
1/260th of your salary for each untaken day of the entitlement. 

9.5 If on termination of the Appointment you have taken more holiday than your accrued 
holiday entitlement, we shall be entitled to deduct the excess holiday pay from any 
payments due to you calculated at 1/260th of your salary for each excess day. 

9.6 If either party has served notice to terminate the Appointment, we may require you to 
take any accrued but unused holiday entitlement during the notice period. 

9.7 Any accrued but unused holiday entitlement shall be deemed to be taken during any 
period of Garden Leave. 

10. Incapacity 

10.1 If you are absent from work due to Incapacity, you shall notify the Board of the reason 
for the absence as soon as possible but no later than 9am on the first day of absence. 

10.2 You shall certify your absence in accordance with our sickness policy which is available 
from the Chief Financial Officer. 

10.3 Subject to your satisfying the relevant requirements you shall receive Statutory Sick Pay 
(SSP). Your qualifying days for SSP purposes are Monday to Friday. 

10.4 You agree to consent to medical examinations (at our expense) by a doctor nominated 
by us should we so require.  

10.5 If the Incapacity is or appears to be occasioned by actionable negligence, nuisance or 
breach of any statutory duty on the part of a third party in respect of which damages are 
or may be recoverable, you shall immediately notify the Board of that fact and of any 
claim, settlement or judgment made or awarded in connection with it and all relevant 
particulars that the Board may reasonably require. You shall if required by us, co-
operate in any related legal proceedings and refund to us that part of any damages or 
compensation recovered by you relating to the loss of earnings for the period of the 
Incapacity as the Board may reasonably determine less any costs borne by you in 
connection with the recovery of such damages or compensation, provided that the 
amount to be refunded shall not exceed the total amount paid to you by us in respect of 
the period of Incapacity. 
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10.6 Our rights to terminate the Appointment under the terms of this agreement apply even 
when such termination would or might cause you to forfeit any entitlement to sick pay or 
other benefits. 

11. Confidential Information 

11.1 You acknowledge that in the course of the Appointment you will have access to 
Confidential Information. You have therefore agreed to accept the restrictions in this 
clause 11. 

11.2 You shall not (except in the proper course of your duties), either during the Appointment 
or at any time after its termination (however arising), use or disclose to any person, 
company or other organisation whatsoever (and shall use your best endeavours to 
prevent the publication or disclosure of) any Confidential Information. This shall not 
apply to: 

(a) any use or disclosure authorised by the Board or required by law; 

(b) any information which is already in, or comes into, the public domain other than 
through your unauthorised disclosure; or 

(c) any protected disclosure within the meaning of section 43A of the Employment 
Rights Act 1996. 

12. Payment in lieu of notice 

12.1 Notwithstanding clause 2, we may, in our sole and absolute discretion, terminate the 
Appointment at any time and with immediate effect by notifying you that we are 
exercising our right under this clause 12 and that we will make within 28 days a payment 
in lieu of notice (Payment in Lieu), or the first instalment of any Payment in Lieu, to you. 
This Payment in Lieu will be equal to the basic salary (as at the date of termination) 
which you would have been entitled to receive under this agreement during the notice 
period referred to at clause 2 (or, if notice has already been given, during the remainder 
of the notice period) less income tax and National Insurance contributions. For the 
avoidance of doubt, the Payment in Lieu shall not include any element in relation to: 

(a) any bonus or commission payments that might otherwise have been due during 
the period for which the Payment in Lieu is made; 

(b) any payment in respect of benefits which you would have been entitled to 
receive during the period for which the Payment in Lieu is made; and 

(c) any payment in respect of any holiday entitlement that would have accrued 
during the period for which the Payment in Lieu is made. 

12.2 We may pay any sums due under clause 12.1 in equal monthly instalments until the date 
on which the notice period referred to at clause 2 would have expired if notice had been 
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given. You shall be obliged to seek alternative income during this period and to notify us 
of any income so received. The instalment payments shall then be reduced by the 
amount of such income. 

12.3 You shall have no right to receive a Payment in Lieu unless we have exercised our 
discretion in clause 12.1. Nothing in this clause 12 shall prevent us from terminating the 
Appointment in breach. 

12.4 Notwithstanding clause 12.1 you shall not be entitled to any Payment in Lieu if we would 
otherwise have been entitled to terminate the Appointment without notice in accordance 
with clause 13. In that case we shall also be entitled to recover from you any Payment in 
Lieu (or instalments thereof) already made. 

13. Termination without notice 

13.1 We may also terminate the Appointment with immediate effect without notice and with no 
liability to make any further payment to you (other than in respect of amounts accrued 
due at the date of termination) if you: 

(a) are guilty of any gross misconduct affecting the business of any Group 
Company; 

(b) commit any serious or repeated breach or non-observance of any of the 
provisions of this agreement or refuse or neglect to comply with any of our 
reasonable and lawful directions; 

(c) are, in the reasonable opinion of the Board, negligent and incompetent in the 
performance of your duties; 

(d) enter sequestration or a trust deed or debt arrangement scheme with creditors; 

(e) are convicted of any criminal offence (other than an offence under any road 
traffic legislation in the United Kingdom or elsewhere for which a fine or non-
custodial penalty is imposed); 

(f) are, in the opinion of a medical practitioner physically or mentally incapable of 
performing your duties and may remain so for more than three months and the 
medical practitioner has given a medical opinion to the Board to that effect; 

(g) cease to be eligible to work in the United Kingdom; 

(h) are guilty of any fraud or dishonesty or act in any manner which in our opinion 
brings or is likely to bring you or any Group Company into disrepute or is 
materially adverse to any Group Company's interests; 

(i) are in breach of our anti-corruption and bribery policy and related procedures; 

(j) are in breach of your obligations under clause 4.4; or 
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(k) are guilty of a serious breach of any rules issued by us from time to time 
regarding our electronic communications systems. 

13.2 Our rights under clause 13.1 are without prejudice to any other rights that we might have 
at law to terminate the Appointment or to accept any breach of this agreement by you as 
having brought the agreement to an end. Any delay by us in exercising our rights to 
terminate shall not constitute a waiver thereof. 

14. Intellectual Property 

14.1 You acknowledge that all Employment IPRs, Employment Inventions and all materials 
embodying them shall automatically belong to us to the fullest extent permitted by law. 
To the extent that they do not vest in us automatically, you hold them on trust for us. 

14.2 You acknowledge that, because of the nature of your duties and the particular 
responsibilities arising from the nature of those duties, you have, and shall have at all 
times while employed by us, a special obligation to further our interests. 

14.3 To the extent that legal title in and to any Employment IPRs or Employment Inventions 
does not vest in us as described in clause 14.1 you agree, immediately on creation of 
such rights and Inventions, to offer to us in writing a right of first refusal to acquire them 
on arm's length terms to be agreed between the parties. If the parties cannot agree on 
such terms within 30 days of us receiving the offer, we shall refer the dispute for 
determination to an independent expert nominated by the Employer. The expert's 
decisions shall be final and binding on the parties in the absence of manifest error, and 
the costs of arbitration shall be borne equally by the parties. The parties will be entitled 
to make submissions to the expert and will provide (or procure that others provide) the 
expert with such assistance and documents as the expert reasonably requires for the 
purpose of reaching a decision. You agree that the provisions of this clause 14.3 shall 
apply to all Employment IPRs and Employment Inventions offered to us under this 
clause 14.3 until such time as we have agreed in writing that you may offer them for sale 
to a third party. 

14.4 You agree: 

(a) to give us full written details of all Employment Inventions which relate to or are 
capable of being used in the business of any Group Company promptly on their 
creation; 

(b) at our request and in any event on the termination of your employment to give 
us all originals and copies of correspondence, documents, papers and records 
on all media which record or relate to any of the Employment IPRs; 

(c) not to attempt to register any Employment IPR nor patent any Employment 
Invention unless requested to do so by us; and 
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(d) to keep confidential each Employment Invention unless we have consented in 
writing to its disclosure by you. 

14.5 You waive all your present and future moral rights which arise under the Copyright 
Designs and Patents Act 1988, and all similar rights in other jurisdictions relating to any 
copyright which forms part of the Employment IPRs, and agree not to support, maintain 
or permit any claim for infringement of moral rights in such copyright works. 

14.6 You acknowledge that, except as provided by law, no further remuneration or 
compensation other than that provided for in this agreement is or may become due to 
you in respect of your compliance with this clause. This clause is without prejudice to 
your rights under the Patents Act 1977. 

14.7 You undertake to use best endeavours to execute all documents and do all acts both 
during and after your employment by us as may, in the opinion of the Company, be 
necessary or desirable to vest the Employment IPRs in us, to register them in our name 
and to protect and maintain the Employment IPRs and the Employment Inventions. Such 
documents may, at our request, include waivers of all and any statutory moral rights 
relating to any copyright works which form part of the Employment IPRs. We agree to 
reimburse your reasonable expenses of complying with this clause 14.7. 

14.8 You agree to give all necessary assistance to us to enable the Company to enforce its 
Intellectual Property Rights against third parties, to defend claims for infringement of 
third party Intellectual Property Rights and to apply for registration of Intellectual 
Property Rights, where appropriate throughout the world, and for the full term of those 
rights. 

14.9 You hereby irrevocably appoint us to be your attorney in your name and on your behalf 
to execute documents, use your name and do all things which are necessary or 
desirable for us to obtain for ourselves or our nominee the full benefit of this clause. 

15. Post Termination Restrictions 

15.1 In order to protect the Confidential Information and any Group Company's business 
connections to which you have access as a result of the Appointment, you covenant with 
us (on our own behalf and as trustee and agent for each Group Company) that you shall 
not: 

(a) For twelve months after Termination, solicit or endeavour to entice away from 
any Group Company the business or custom of a Restricted Customer with a 
view to providing goods or services to that Restricted Customer in competition 
with any Restricted Business; 
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(b) for twelve months after Termination, be involved in any Capacity with any 
business concern which is (or intends to be) in competition with any Restricted 
Business; 

(c) for twelve months after Termination, be involved with the provision of goods or 
services to (or otherwise have any business dealings with) any Restricted 
Customer in the course of any business concern which is in competition with 
any Restricted Business; or 

(d) at any time after Termination, represent yourself as connected with any Group 
Company in any Capacity, other than as a former employee, or use any 
registered names or trading names associated with any Group Company. 

15.2 None of the restrictions in clause 15.1 shall prevent you from: 

(a) holding an investment by way of shares or other securities of not more than 5% 
of the total issued share capital of any company, whether or not it is listed or 
dealt in on a recognised stock exchange; or 

(b) being engaged or concerned in any business concern insofar as your duties or 
work shall relate solely to geographical areas where the business concern is not 
in competition with any Restricted Business; or 

(c) being engaged or concerned in any business concern, provided that your duties 
or work shall relate solely to services or activities of a kind with which you were 
not concerned to a material extent in the twelve months before Termination. 

15.3 The restrictions imposed on you by this clause 15 apply to you acting: 

(a) directly or indirectly; and 

(b) on your own behalf or on behalf of, or in conjunction with, any firm, company or 
person. 

15.4 The periods for which the restrictions in clause 15.1 apply shall be reduced by any 
period that you spend on Garden Leave immediately before Termination. 

15.5 If you receive an offer to be involved in a business concern in any Capacity during the 
Appointment, or before the expiry of the last of the covenants in this clause 15, you shall 
give the person making the offer a copy of this clause 15 and shall tell us the identity of 
that person as soon as possible after accepting the offer. 

15.6 The parties entered into the restrictions in this clause 15 having been separately legally 
advised. 

15.7 Each of the restrictions in this clause 15 is intended to be separate and severable. If any 
of the restrictions shall be held to be void but would be valid if part of their wording were 
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deleted, such restriction shall apply with such deletion as may be necessary to make it 
valid or effective. 

15.8 If your employment is transferred to any firm, company, person or entity other than a 
Group Company (the "New Employer") pursuant to the Transfer of Undertakings 
(Protection of Employment) Regulations 2006, you will, if required, enter into an 
agreement with the New Employer containing post-termination restrictions 
corresponding to those restrictions in this clause 15, protecting the confidential 
information, trade secrets and business connections of the New Employer. 

15.9 You will, at our request and expense, enter into a separate agreement with any Group 
Company in which you agree to be bound by restrictions corresponding to those 
restrictions in this clause 15 (or such of those restrictions as may be appropriate) in 
relation to that Group Company. 

16. Garden Leave 

16.1 Following service of notice to terminate the Appointment by either party, or if you purport 
to terminate the Appointment in breach of contract, we may by written notice place you 
on Garden Leave for the whole or part of the remainder of the Appointment.  

16.2 During any period of Garden Leave: 

(a) we shall be under no obligation to provide any work to you and may revoke any 
powers you hold on any Group Company's behalf; 

(b) we may require you to carry out alternative duties or to only perform such 
specific duties as are expressly assigned to you, at such location (including your 
home) as we may decide; 

(c) you shall continue to receive your basic salary and all contractual benefits in the 
usual way and subject to the terms of any benefit arrangement; 

(d) you shall remain an employee of ours and bound by the terms of this agreement 
(including any implied duties of good faith and fidelity); 

(e) you shall ensure that the Board knows where you will be and how you can be 
contacted during each working day (except during any periods taken as holiday 
in the usual way); 

(f) we may exclude you from any Group Company's premises; and 

(g) we may require you not to contact or deal with (or attempt to contact or deal 
with) any officers, employees, consultants, clients, customers, suppliers, agents, 
distributors, shareholders, advisers or other business contacts of any Group 
Company. 



14 

17. Obligations on termination 

17.1 On termination of the Appointment (however arising) or if earlier, at the start of a period 
of Garden Leave, you shall: 

(a) Immediately deliver to us all documents, books, materials, records, 
correspondence, papers and information (on whatever media and wherever 
located) relating to any Group Company's business or affairs or relating to its 
business contacts, any keys, credit card and any other property of any Group 
Company, which is in your possession or under your control; 

(b) irretrievably delete any information relating to any Group Company's business 
stored on any magnetic or optical disk or memory and all matter derived from 
such sources which is in your possession or under your control outside our 
premises; and 

(c) provide a signed statement that you have complied fully with your obligations 
under this clause 17.1 together with such reasonable evidence of compliance as 
we may request. 

17.2 [On termination of the Appointment however arising you shall not be entitled to any 
compensation for the loss of any rights or benefits under any share option, bonus, long-
term incentive plan or other profit sharing scheme operated by any Group Company in 
which you may participate.] 

18. Disciplinary and grievance procedures 

18.1 You are subject to our disciplinary and grievance procedures, copies of which are 
available from the Chief Financial Officer. These procedures do not form part of your 
contract of employment. 

18.2 If you want to raise a grievance, you may apply in writing to the Chief Financial Officer in 
accordance with our grievance procedure. 

18.3 If you wish to appeal against a disciplinary decision you may apply in writing to the Chief 
Financial Officer in accordance with our disciplinary procedure. 

18.4 We may suspend you from any or all of your duties for no longer than is necessary to 
investigate any disciplinary matter involving you or so long as is otherwise reasonable 
while any disciplinary procedure against you is outstanding.  

18.5 During any period of suspension: 

(a) you shall continue to receive your basic salary and all contractual benefits in the 
usual way and subject to the terms of any benefit arrangement; 
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(b) you shall remain our employee and bound by the terms of this agreement; 

(c) you shall ensure that the Board knows where you will be and how you can be 
contacted during each working day (except during any periods taken as holiday 
in the usual way); 

(d) We may exclude you from your place of work or any of any Group Company's 
other premises; and 

(e) We may require you not to contact or deal with (or attempt to contact or deal 
with) any officer, employee, consultant, client, customer, supplier, agent, 
distributor, shareholder, adviser or other business contact of any Group 
Company. 

19. Pensions 

We will comply with the employer pension duties in accordance with Part 1 of the 
Pensions Act 2008. 

20. Data protection 

20.1 We will collect and process information relating to you in accordance with the privacy 
notice which is available from the Chief Financial Officer. You are required to sign and 
date the privacy notice, and return to the Chief Financial Officer 

20.2 You shall comply with our Data protection policy when handling personal data in the 
course of employment including personal data relating to any employee, worker, 
contractor, customer, client, supplier or agent of ours. You will also comply with related 
policies, including our IT and communications systems policy. 

20.3 Failure to comply with the Data protection policy or any related policies may be dealt 
with under our disciplinary procedure and, in serious cases, may be treated as gross 
misconduct leading to summary dismissal. 

21. Monitoring 

21.1 Our systems enable us to monitor telephone, email, voicemail, internet and other 
communications. In order to carry out its legal obligations as an employer (such as 
ensuring employee compliance with the Company's IT related policies), and for other 
business reasons, we may monitor use of systems including the telephone and 
computer systems, and any personal use of them, by automated software or otherwise. 
Monitoring is only carried out to the extent permitted or as required by law and as 
necessary and justifiable for business purposes. 
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22. Collective agreements 

There is no collective agreement which directly affects the Appointment. 

23. Reconstruction and amalgamation 

If the Appointment is terminated at any time by reason of the reconstruction or 
amalgamation of any Group Company, whether by winding up or otherwise, and you are 
offered employment with any concern or undertaking involved in or resulting from the 
reconstruction or amalgamation on terms which (considered in their entirety) are no less 
favourable to any material extent than the terms of this agreement, you shall have no 
claim against us or any such undertaking arising out of or connected with the 
termination. 

24. Notices 

24.1 A notice given to a party under or in connection with this agreement shall be in writing 
and shall be delivered by hand or by pre-paid first-class post or other next working day 
delivery service at the address given in this agreement or as otherwise notified in writing 
to the other party. 

24.2 Unless proved otherwise, any such notice shall be deemed to have been received: 

(a) if delivered by hand, at the time the notice is left at the address given in this 
agreement or given to the addressee; and 

(b) if sent by pre-paid first class post or other next working day delivery service, at 
9.00 am on the second Business Day after posting or at the time recorded by 
the delivery service. 

24.3 If deemed receipt under clause 24.2 would occur outside business hours in the place of 
receipt, it shall be deferred until business hours resume. In this clause 24.3, business 
hours means 9.00am to 5.00pm Monday to Friday on a day that is not a public holiday in 
the place of receipt.  

24.4 A notice required to be given under this agreement shall not be validly given if sent by e-
mail. 

24.5 This clause does not apply to the service of any proceedings or other documents in any 
legal action or, where applicable, any other method of dispute resolution. 

25. Entire agreement 

25.1 This agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the parties and supersedes 
and extinguishes all previous agreements, promises, assurances, warranties, 
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representations and understandings between them, whether written or oral, relating to its 
subject matter. 

25.2 Each party acknowledges that in entering into this agreement it does not rely on, and 
shall have no remedies in respect of, any statement, representation, assurance or 
warranty (whether made innocently or negligently) that is not set out in this agreement. 

25.3 Each party agrees that it shall have no claim for innocent or negligent misrepresentation 
based on any statement in this agreement. 

25.4 Nothing in this clause shall limit or exclude any liability for fraud. 

26. Variation 

No variation or agreed termination of this agreement shall be effective unless it is in 
writing and signed by the parties (or their authorised representatives). 

27. Counterparts 

27.1 This agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts. 

27.2 Where executed in counterparts: 

(a) this agreement shall not take effect until each of the counterparts has been 
delivered; 

(b) delivery shall take place when the date of delivery is agreed between the parties 
after execution of this agreement as evidenced by the date inserted at the start 
of this agreement. 

28.  Third party rights  

This agreement does not give rise to any rights under the Contract (Third Party Rights) 
(Scotland) Act 2017 for any third party to enforce or otherwise invoke any term of this 
agreement. 

29. Governing law 

This agreement and any dispute or claim arising out of or in connection with it or its 
subject matter or formation (including non-contractual disputes or claims) shall be 
governed by and construed in accordance with the law of Scotland. 
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30. Jurisdiction 

Each party irrevocably agrees that the Scottish courts shall have exclusive jurisdiction to 
settle any dispute or claim arising out of or in connection with this agreement or its 
subject matter or formation (including non-contractual disputes or claims). 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF this agreement consisting of this and the preceding 17 pages are 
executed as follows: 

Signed for and on behalf of McBookie Ltd 

BY [NAME OF 
DIRECTOR/SECRETARY/AUTHORISED 
SIGNATORY] [a director OR its secretary OR 
an authorised signatory]  

in the presence of: 

…………………….. 

(Witness signature) 

…………………….. 

(Print name) 

…………………….. 

…………………….. 

…………………….. 

(Address) 

at 

on 

  

..................................... 

[SIGNATURE OF 
DIRECTOR/SECRETARY/AUTHORISED 
SIGNATORY] 

 

Signed by [EMPLOYEE]: 

in the presence of: 

…………………….. 

(Witness signature) 

…………………….. 

(Print name) 

…………………….. 

…………………….. 

……………………..  
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…………………….. 

(Address) 

at 

on 

 



 

SCHEDULE D 

 

FORM OF SHARE RESTRICTION AGREEMENT 

 

See attached 
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DISCLOSURE SCHEDULES 

Section 3.06 of the Disclosure Schedules 

(c) The closing of the Agreement is likely to result in renewed know your customer checks on the Purchaser

by the UK Gaming Commission and similar governmental authorities.

Section 3.09 of the Disclosure Schedules 

(a)The transfer of the Corporation’s website from one platform to another has had problems due to

software issues and is currently in the process of being addressed with the software developer (Two Up

Digital Limited). As at the date of this Agreement, it is not possible to asses the impact on the earning 

and profitability of the Corporation. The software developer has agreed to reduce its monthly charges to 

the Corporation as a result of these issues.  

(d) Monthly dividends have been paid to Paul Petrie and Damian Walker as part of monthly remuneration

and in addition a pre Closing dividend in an amount no greater than [$*] may be paid to other 

Shareholders on or before Closing.  

Section 3.10 of the Disclosure Schedules 

The Corporation is party to the following material contracts: 

(a) Agreement with Two Up Digital Limited dated

(b) Agreement with Star Racing Limited dated

Section 3.12 of the Disclosure Schedules 

None  

Section 3.13 of the Disclosure Schedules 

The Corporation owns the following domain names on a 2 year renewal: 

Mcbookie.co.uk  

Mcbookiebingo.co.uk 

Mcbookiegames.co.uk 

Mcbookiepoker.co.uk 

The Corporation owns the following domain names on a 1 year renewal 

Mcbookie.com 

Mcbookiebingo.com 

Mcbookieblog.com 

Mcbookiecasino.com 

Mcbookiegames.com 

Mcbookiepoker.com 

The Corporation owns and operates the following social media handles/addresses: 

Facebook - McBookie.com 

Twitter - @McBookie.com 

You Tube – Mr McBookie 
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Paul Petrie owns the following registered trademark used by the Corporation:  

McBookie –trademark number UK00002480723  

Section 3.14 of the Disclosure Schedules 

(a) The transfer of the Corporation’s website from one platform to another has had problems due to 

software issues and is currently in the process of being addressed with the software 

developer (Two Up Digital Limited). The Corporation has taken the position that the 

software platform does not function as anticipated in respect of the McBookie platform and 

that Two Up Digital Limited are currently in breach of the terms and conditions of the 

contract.  

 

Section 3.16 of the Disclosure Schedules 

None  

Section 3.17 of the Disclosure Schedules 

None  

Section 3.22 of the Disclosure Schedules 

None  

Section 3.23 of the Disclosure Schedules 

None  

Section 3.26 of the Disclosure Schedules 

None  

Section 3.28 of the Disclosure Schedules 

None, other than as disclosed in Section 3.28(b). 

Section 3.30 of the Disclosure Schedules 

None  

Section 3.33 of the Disclosure Schedules 

Deep Cove Consulting to receive 5% of the Cash Portion and 5% of the Purchased Shares.  

David Sergeant to receive 2.5 % of Cash Portion and 2.5% of the Purchased Shares. 

 

 



SHARE RESTRICTION AGREEMENT 

THIS AGREEMENT is dated effective __________, 2020 (the “Effective Date”).  

BETWEEN 

FANSUNITE ENTERTAINMENT INC., a corporation with its primary place of business 

at #205 – 1008 Homer Street, Vancouver B.C., V6B 2X1 

 (the “Company”) 

AND 

ACTIVE SHAREHOLDERS OF MCBOOKIE 

 

 (each a “Restricted Shareholder”) 

WHEREAS: 

A. As of the Effective Date, the Restricted Shareholder owns the number of common shares in the 

capital of the Company set out opposite such Restricted Shareholder’s name in Schedule “A” (collectively, 

the “Restricted Securities”); and 

B. The Shareholder has agreed that the Restricted Securities will be subject to certain restrictions as 

further described in this Agreement. 

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises made in this Agreement and for other good 

and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties 

agree as follows: 

 1. RESTRICTION ON TRANSFER OF RESTRICTED SECURITIES 

1.1 Transfer Restrictions. The Restricted Shareholder hereby agrees that, without the prior written 

consent of the Company, it will not directly or indirectly during the Term (as it is defined in 

Section 3), offer, pledge, sell, contract to sell, sell any option or contract to purchase, purchase 

any option or contract to sell, grant any option, right or warrant for the sale of, or otherwise 

dispose of or transfer any of the Restricted Securities or any securities convertible into or 

exchangeable or exercisable for any of the Restricted Securities, or enter into any swap or any 

other agreement or any transaction that transfers, in whole or in part, directly or indirectly, the 

economic consequence of ownership of the Restricted Securities, whether any such swap or 

transaction is to be settled by delivery of the Restricted Securities or other securities, in cash or 

otherwise. 

1.2 Permitted Transfers. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, the transfer 

restrictions set forth in Section 1.1 shall not apply to the transfer of any Released Shares (as 

defined in Section 2) or to a transfer of the Restricted Securities to the Company pursuant to a 

redemption initiated by the Company or pursuant to that certain Interest Purchase Agreement 

between the Company and the Restricted Shareholder dated as December _____, 2019. 

1.3  Transfers made pursuant to this Section 1.1 or Section 1.2, with the exception of any transfer of 

Released Shares (as defined in Section 2), shall be subject to the terms and conditions of this 

Agreement, the Timed Release Schedule for Shares detailed in Section 2, and will contain and be 



subject to the Restrictive Legends detailed in Section 10 herein. The Transferee shall execute a 

joinder to this Agreement and any other agreements reasonably required by the Company 

pursuant to which such transferee(s) agree to be bound by the terms and conditions of this 

Agreement. 

 2. TIMED RELEASE SCHEDULE FOR SHARES 

The term “Released Shares” shall mean those of the Restricted Securities which are released 

from stock restrictions in accordance with the following automatic timed release schedule: 

Vesting Date Proportion of Vested Shares 

Nine (9) Months and One Day after the Effective 

Date  
25% of the Restricted 

Securities 

Twelve (12) Months after the Effective Date 
15% of the Restricted 

Securities 

Eighteen (18) Months after the Effective Date 
15% of the Restricted 

Securities 

Twenty Four (24) Months after the Effective Date 
15% of the Restricted 

Securities 

Thirty (30) Months after the Effective Date 
15% of the Restricted 

Securities 

Thirty Six (36) Months after the Effective Date 
15% of the Restricted 

Securities 

TOTAL 
100% of the Restricted 

Securities 

 

3. TERM 

The term of this Agreement shall begin on the Effective Date and shall terminate on the earlier 

of: (a) the permitted sale of all Restricted Securities subject to this Agreement; or (b) December 

30, 2021. 

 

4. UNILATERAL AMENDMENT 

The Restricted Shareholder expressly consents and agrees with the Company that the Company 

may effect a unilateral amendment to the vesting schedule set out in Section 2 if required to 

comply with applicable securities laws or securities exchange requirements, and in order for such 



amendment to take effect, the Company shall deliver or cause to be delivered to the Restricted 

Shareholder at its address on record with the Company a notice of amendment setting out the 

replacement vesting schedule, with no further action necessary or required on the part of the 

Restricted Shareholder in order for such amendment to take effect as of the date specified by the 

Company in the notice of amendment. 

 
5. VIOLATIONS OF TRANSFER RESTRICTIONS; REMEDIES 

5.1 Stop Transfer Instructions. The Restricted Shareholder agrees and consents to the entry of 

stop transfer instructions with the Company’s transfer agent and registrar against the transfer of 

any of the Restricted Securities except in compliance with the provisions of this Agreement. 

 5.2 Violations. The Company will not be required to (a) transfer on its books any of the 
Restricted Securities that have been transferred in violation of any of the provisions set forth in 

this Agreement, or (b) treat as the owner of such Restricted Securities, or accord the right to vote 

as such owner, or pay dividends to any transferee to whom such Restricted Securities are purported 

to have been so transferred in violation of any of the provisions set forth in this Agreement. 

 
 5.3        Power of Attorney.  The Restricted Shareholder hereby appoints the 

Company as the Restricted Shareholder’s attorney-in-fact with irrevocable power and authority in 

the name and on behalf of the Restricted Shareholder to take any action and execute all documents 

and instruments, including, without limitation, stock powers which may be necessary to transfer 

the certificate (or certificates) evidencing the Restricted Securities to the appropriate person or 

entity upon a transfer made in violation of this Agreement, which power of attorney is hereby 

coupled with an interest and is given to secure the performance of the Restricted Shareholder’s 

obligations and duties under this Agreement, and such power of attorney shall be irrevocable by 

the Restricted Shareholder, subject to the termination provisions set forth herein. 

 
5.4 Injunctions; Other Remedies. The Restricted Shareholder acknowledges and agrees that 

the provisions of this Section 5 are reasonable and necessary for the protection of the Company’s 

business interests, that irreparable injury will result to the Company if the Restricted Shareholder 

breaches any of the terms of the Agreement, and that in the event of a breach of any terms of the 

Agreement, the Company will have no adequate remedy at law. The Restricted Shareholder 

further agrees that in the event of any actual or threatened breach by it of any provision of this 

Agreement, the Company shall be entitled to immediate temporary injunctive and other equitable 

relief, and without the necessity of showing actual monetary damages, subject to hearing as soon 

thereafter as possible. Nothing contained herein shall be construed as prohibiting the Company 

from pursuing any other remedies available to it for such breach or threatened breach, including 

the recovery of any liquidated damages. 

 
6. REPORT OF SALE OF RESTRICTED SECURITIES 

The Restricted Shareholder agrees to deliver to the Company at its principal office, addressed to 

the Company’s Chief Financial Officer and upon request by the Company, within five (5) 

business days following the permitted sale of any of the Restricted Securities, a report signed 

from the Restricted Shareholder’s broker which is to include the following information: (a) the 

name of the Restricted Shareholder; (b) the number of Restricted Securities transferred; (c) the 

price applicable to the Restricted Securities transferred, as of the date of transfer; (d) a statement 

as to whether the sale was made pursuant to a private resale or via a brokerage transaction; (e) 

the name of the securities exchange on which such Restricted Securities were sold, if applicable; 



and (f) if derivatives of such Restricted Securities were transferred, the exercise price, term, and 

other standard terms of the derivatives. 

 
7. ADJUSTMENTS TO RESTRICTED SECURITIES 

In the event of any merger, reorganization, consolidation, recapitalization, separation, liquidation, 

stock dividend, split-up, share combination, or other change in the corporate structure of 

Company affecting the Restricted Securities, the new securities replacing the Restricted 

Securities will be subject to all of the conditions and restrictions that were applicable to the 

Restricted Securities pursuant to this Agreement. 

 

8. Removed 

 
9. RIGHTS OF SHAREHOLDER 

Except as otherwise provided herein, the Restricted Shareholder shall exercise all rights and 
privileges of a shareholder of the Company with respect to the Restricted Securities, and the 

Company shall list the Restricted Shareholder as a shareholder on its corporate books and records. 

 
10. RESTRICTIVE LEGENDS 

All certificates representing the Restricted Securities shall have endorsed thereon a legend in 

substantially the following form (in addition to any other legend which may be required by other 

agreements between the parties hereto or applicable securities regulations): 

“THE SHARES REPRESENTED BY THIS CERTIFICATE ARE SUBJECT 

TO RESTRICTIONS ON SALE OR OTHER TRANSFER PURSUANT TO 

TERMS SET FORTH IN AN AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE COMPANY 

AND THE REGISTERED HOLDER, OR SUCH HOLDER’S PREDECESSOR 

IN INTEREST, A COPY OF WHICH IS ON FILE AT THE PRINCIPAL 

OFFICE OF THE COMPANY. ANY TRANSFER OR ATTEMPTED 

TRANSFER OF ANY SHARES SUBJECT TO THE AGREEMENT IS VOID 

WITHOUT THE PRIOR EXPRESS WRITTEN CONSENT OF THE 

COMPANY.” 

 
11.  MISCELLANEOUS 

11.1  Successors and Assigns. This Agreement shall inure to the benefit of the successors and assigns 

of the Company and, subject to the restrictions on transfer herein set forth, be binding upon the 

Restricted Shareholders and their respective successors and permitted assigns. 

11.2  Legal Fees; Specific Performance. The Restricted Shareholder shall reimburse the Company for 

all costs incurred by the Company in enforcing the performance of, or protecting its rights under, 

any part of this Agreement as it relates to such Restricted Shareholder, including reasonable costs 

of investigation and legal fees. It is expressly agreed between the parties that money damages are 

inadequate to compensate the Company for the Restricted Securities and that the Company shall, 

upon forfeiture of Restricted Securities, be entitled to specific enforcement of its right to revoke 

said Restricted Securities. 

11.3  Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws 

of the Province of British Columbia and the laws of Canada applicable therein. 



11.4  Independent Counsel. The Restricted Shareholder acknowledges that this Agreement has been 

prepared on behalf of the Company by legal counsel to the Company, and that the Company’s 

legal counsel does not represent, and is not acting on behalf of, the Restricted Shareholders. The 

Restricted Shareholder has been advised and provided with an opportunity to consult with such 

Restricted Shareholder’s own counsel with respect to this Agreement. 

11.5  Entire Agreement and Amendment. This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the 

parties with respect to the subject matter hereof and supersedes and merges all prior agreements 

or understandings, whether written or oral. Except as provided in Section 4, this Agreement may 

not be amended, modified or revoked, in whole or in part, except by an agreement in writing 

signed by each of the parties hereto. 

11.6  Severability. If one or more provisions of this Agreement are held to be unenforceable under 

applicable law, the parties agree to renegotiate such provision in good faith. In the event that the 

parties cannot reach a mutually agreeable and enforceable replacement for such provision, then 

(i) such provision shall be excluded from this Agreement, (ii) the balance of the Agreement shall 

be interpreted as if such provision were so excluded and (iii) the balance of the Agreement shall 

be enforceable in accordance with its terms. 

11.7  Counterparts and Delivery. This Agreement may be executed in counterparts and delivered by 

electronic communication. 

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have duly executed this Agreement as of the date set out on the 

first page above. 

 

 
FANSUNITE ENTERTAINMENT INC. 

Per:  _____________________________ 

 Darius Eghdami 

 Chief Executive Officer 

MCBOOKIE LIMITED 

 

 

Per:  _____________________________ 

                                   Authorized Signatory  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
  



SCHEDULE “A” 

RESTRICTED SHAREHOLDER 

 

 

Shareholder Total Shares 

1 _______________ 2,675,314 
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SHARE PURCHASE AMENDMENT AGREEMENT 

THIS AGREEMENT (the �Agreement�) is entered into as of the 28th day of November, 2019 (the 
�Effective Date�). 

AMONG:

MCBOOKIE LIMITED, a corporation formed under the laws of Scotland 

 (the �Corporation�)

AND: 

THOSE  SHAREHOLDERS  OF  THE  COPRORATION  AS  SET  FORTH  IN 
SCHEDULE B HERETO 

(the �Shareholders�)

AND: 

FANSUNITE ENTERTAINMENT INC., a corporation formed under the laws 
of British Columbia 

 (the �Purchaser�) 

WHEREAS: 

A. On July 15, 2019 the parties entered into a Share Purchase Agreement (the �SPA�);

B. The parties wish to amend the SPA on the terms set out in this Agreement.

NOW  THEREFORE,  in  consideration  of  the  promises  set  out  in  this  Agreement,  and  other  good  and 
valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, the parties agree as 
follows: 

1. The definition of �Advance� and �Outside Date� in Schedule �A� of the SPA are deleted and replaced
with the following:

�Advance� means the sum of sixty thousand pounds (£60,000), of which ten thousand 
pounds  (£10,000)  (the  �Initial  Advance�)  was  advanced  to  the  Corporation  by  the 
Purchaser on March 15, 2019, and the remaining fifty thousand pounds (£50,000) (the 
�Second Advance�) is held in escrow by Segev LLP, solicitors for the Purchaser. 

�Outside Date� means March 31, 2020. 

2. Section 2.15 of the SPA is deleted and replaced with the following:

The closing (the �Closing�) shall take place on March 30, 2020 or such other date as may 
be agreed to by the parties (the day on which the Closing takes place being the �Closing 
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Date�).  No  action  is  to  be  considered  completed  until  all  actions  necessary  to  be 
completed at the Closing have been completed. The Closing will take place by way of an 
exchange of documents and payments between the solicitors for the Purchaser and the 
solicitors for the Shareholders and the satisfaction of waiver of the conditions to Closing 
set forth in Article VI (other than conditions which, by their nature, are to be satisfied on 
the Closing Date). 

3. Section 9.02 of the SPA is deleted and replaced with the following: 

In the event that the Closing does not occur on or before the Outside Date (except as a 
result  of  any  act  or  omission  of  the  Company  or  the  Shareholders),  then  the  Initial 
Advance shall be retained by the Corporation and the Purchaser shall direct its solicitors 
to release the Second Advance to the Corporation within five (5) calendar days of the 
Outside Date. 

Notwithstanding the foregoing,  in the event that this Agreement  is terminated before 
the Outside Date or the Closing does not occur on or before the Outside Date as a result 
of any act or omission of the Company or the Shareholders, then the Initial Advance shall 
be returned to the Purchaser within five (5) days of the effective date of termination of 
this Agreement, and the Purchaser�s solicitors shall release the Second Advance to the 
Purchaser. 

4. All other terms and conditions of the Agreement shall remain the same and in full force and effect. 

5. This Agreement, including the schedules attached thereto, is the sole and entire Agreement between
the parties relating to the subject matter hereof, and supersedes all prior understandings, agreements 
and documentation relating to such subject matter. This Agreement may only be amended by mutual
written consent of all parties. 

6. This Agreement shall enure to the benefit of and be binding upon the parties and their respective 
successors and assigns. 

7. Each party shall do such acts and shall execute such other documents and will cause the doing of such 
acts and will cause the execution of such further documents as are within its power as any other party 
may  in writing at any time and from time to time reasonably request be done and/or executed,  in 
order to give full effect to the provisions of this Agreement. 
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SECOND AMENDMENT TO  
SHARE PURCHASE AGREEMENT 

THIS SECOND AMENDMENT AGREEMENT (this “Second Amendment”) is made as 
of _____________________.  

AMONG: 

MCBOOKIE LIMITED, a corporation formed under the laws of Scotland 

(the “Corporation”) 

AND 

THOSE SHAREHOLDERS OF THE CORPORATION AS SET FORTH IN SCHEDULE 
B HERETO 

(collectively, the “Shareholders”) 

AND 

FANSUNITE ENTERTAINMENT INC., a corporation formed under the laws of British 
Columbia 

(“Purchaser” and, together with the Corporation and the Shareholders, the “Parties”) 

WHEREAS: 

A. On July 15, 2019 the Parties entered into a Share Purchase Agreement (the “SPA”);
B. On November 28, 2019 the Parties entered into a Share Purchase Amendment Agreement

(the “SPAA”); and
C. The Parties now wish to amend the SPA as set out herein to reflect the mutual intention of the

Parties.

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the promises set out in this Second Amendment, and other good 
and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, the parties agree 
as follows:  

1. Section 2.02 (b) of the SPA is hereby deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following:

“Subject to Section 2.02(c) and 2.03, six million nine hundred ninety four thousand
two hundred eighty five (6,994,285) common shares of Purchaser (each, a
“Purchaser Share”), at a deemed issue price of CAD $0.175 per Purchaser Share,
to be issued on Closing. All Purchaser Shares issued hereunder (the “Restricted
Purchaser Shares”) will be subject to a share restriction agreement (the “Share
Restriction Agreement”) to be entered into concurrently with this Agreement,
attached hereto as Schedule D, which shall restrict the relevant holder’s ability to
sell, transfer or otherwise dispose of the Purchaser Shares for a nine (9) month
period following the Closing Date. Each Active Shareholder (defined herein)

12 / 13 / 2019
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acknowledges and agrees that any Purchaser Shares released pursuant to 
Subsection 2.03(b) shall remain subject to the Share Restriction Agreement.” 

2.  Section 2.02 (c) of the SPA is hereby deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following: 

“The Shareholders acknowledge that before or concurrently with the 
Amalgamation (as that term is defined in section 2.11 below) the Purchaser is 
expected to undergo a share consolidation pursuant to which each holder of 
common shares of the Purchaser will exchange two of those shares for a single 
common share in the Purchaser (the “Consolidation”). As a result of such 
Consolidation, the total number of outstanding common shares in the Purchaser 
will be reduced from 69,831,000 to 34,915,500. The Shareholders agree that 
upon the occurrence of such Consolidation, their entitlement to the issuance of 
Purchaser Shares pursuant to section 2.02(b) of this Agreement will be reduced 
from 6,994,285 Purchaser Shares to 3,497,143 Purchaser Shares (CAD $0.35 
per Purchaser Share).”  

3. All other terms and conditions of the SPA and SPAA shall remain the same and in full force and 
effect.  

4. This Second Amendment shall enure to the benefit of and be binding upon the parties and their 
respective successors and assigns  

5.  Each party shall do such acts and shall execute such other documents and will cause the doing of 
such acts and will cause the execution of such further documents as are within its power as any other 
party may in writing at any time and from time to time reasonably request be done and/or executed, in 
order to give full effect to the provisions of this Second Amendment.  

6. This Second Amendment may be signed by the parties electronically in counterparts, and 
delivered by facsimile, email, or in as many counterparts as necessary, each of which so signed shall be 
deemed to be an original, and such counterparts together shall constitute one and the same instrument and 
notwithstanding the date of execution shall be deemed to bear the date hereinbefore mentioned.  

7. IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Second Amendment to be 
executed as of the date first written above by their respective officers thereunto duly authorized.  

 

 

 

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank] 
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SHARE PURCHASE AMENDMENT AGREEMENT 
 
THIS THIRD AMENDMENT AGREEMENT (the “Agreement”) is entered into as of the 23rd day of March, 
2020 (the “Effective Date”). 

AMONG: 
 

MCBOOKIE LIMITED, a corporation formed under the laws of Scotland 

 (the “Corporation”) 

AND: 

THOSE SHAREHOLDERS OF THE COPRORATION AS SET FORTH IN 
SCHEDULE A HERETO 

(the “Shareholders”) 

AND: 

FANSUNITE ENTERTAINMENT INC., a corporation formed under the 
laws of British Columbia 

 (the “Purchaser”) 

WHEREAS: 

A. On July 15, 2019 the parties entered into a Share Purchase Agreement (the “SPA”); 

B. The SPA was subsequently amended on November 28, 2019 and December 13, 2019; 

C. The parties wish to further amend the SPA on the terms set out in this Agreement. 

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the promises set out in this Agreement, and other good and 
valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, the parties agree 
as follows: 

1. Section 2.02(a) of the SPA is deleted and replaced with the following: 

“Cash consideration (the “Cash Portion”) equal to the sum of (i) three hundred thousand 
Pounds Sterling (£300,000) and (ii) the amount of unrestricted cash and cash equivalents 
held by the Corporation as of the close of business on the day immediately preceding the 
Closing Date, net of all outstanding checks, drafts, and the outstanding tax bill referenced in 
section 3.29 (c) (the “Closing Cash”), less the amount of the Advance.  

2. The following sentence is added to the end of section 2.02(b) of the SPA (as amended): 

������������������������������������
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“The Shareholders shall also execute any additional documents reasonably necessary as a 
result of the Purchaser’s public listing on the Canadian Securities Exchange (CSE), including 
any escrow agreements.” 

3. Section 2.02(d) is added to the SPA stating as follows: 

“An executed convertible promissory note (the “Convertible Note”) with a principal in the 
amount of £300,000. The due date of the Convertible Note shall be the date that is twelve 
(12) months after the Closing. The Convertible Note shall not bear any interest. In the event 
that the Convertible Note is not repaid by the due date, the Shareholders’ remedy shall be to 
cause the Purchaser to transfer to the Purchasers 1,500 of the Shares, be distributed to the 
Shareholders in proportion to their current shareholdings in the Company as set out under 
the heading “Cash Consideration Allocation” in Schedule B.” 

4. Section 2.16 is added to the SPA stating as follows: 

“The parties acknowledge that in April of 2020 the Corporation is expected to receive a tax 
refund payment in the approximate amount of £21,873 from Her Majesty’s Revenue & 
Customs (HMRC) (the “Tax Refund”). The parties agree that upon receipt of such Tax Refund, 
the Purchaser shall cause the funds relating to the same to be transferred to the Active 
Shareholders in equal shares.” 

 
5. All other terms and conditions of the SPA shall remain the same and in full force and effect. 

6. This Agreement, including the schedules attached thereto, is the sole and entire Agreement 
between the parties relating to the subject matter hereof, and supersedes all prior understandings, 
agreements and documentation relating to such subject matter. This Agreement may only be 
amended by mutual written consent of all parties. 

7. This Agreement shall enure to the benefit of and be binding upon the parties and their respective 
successors and assigns. 

8. Each party shall do such acts and shall execute such other documents and will cause the doing of 
such acts and will cause the execution of such further documents as are within its power as any 
other party may in writing at any time and from time to time reasonably request be done and/or 
executed, in order to give full effect to the provisions of this Agreement. 

  

������������������������������������
���������
�	�	���	��



Page 3 of 5 
 

9. This Agreement may be signed by the parties electronically in counterparts, and delivered by 
facsimile, email, or in as many counterparts as necessary, each of which so signed shall be deemed 
to be an original, and such counterparts together shall constitute one and the same instrument and 
notwithstanding the date of execution shall be deemed to bear the date hereinbefore mentioned. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be executed as of the date 
first written above by their respective officers thereunto duly authorized. 

  
 

  
 

MCBOOKIE LIMITED 
 
 

 

_____________________________ 
Authorized Representative 
 
 
 

 

FANSUNITE ENTERTAINMENT INC. 
 
 

 

__ ______ 
Authorized Representative 
 

 

 
 

  PAUL PETRIE 
Name of Witness    
   
   
   
Signature of Witness  Signature of Shareholder 

 

   
   

 

  DAMIAN WALKER 
Name of Witness    
   
   
   
Signature of Witness  Signature of Shareholder 
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  PETER JONES 
Name of Witness    
   
   
   
Signature of Witness  Signature of Shareholder 

 

 

  ROSS BARR 
Name of Witness    
   
   
   
Signature of Witness  Signature of Shareholder 

 

 

  ELIZABETH JONES 
Name of Witness    
   
   
   
Signature of Witness  Signature of Shareholder 

 

 

  KENNY LOGAN  
Name of Witness    
   
   
   
Signature of Witness  Signature of Shareholder 
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SCHEDULE “A” 

Name and Address of Shareholder Number of Shares Held 

Paul Petrie 
Email: 

2295 

Damian Walker 
Email: 

2295 

Peter Jones 
Email: 

525 

Ross Barr 
Email: 

495 

Elizabeth Jones 
Email: 

300 

Kenny Logan 
Email: 

90 
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